
 

B   O   S   T   O   N 
B O R O U G H  C O U N C I L  

 
Chief Executive 

Phil Drury 
MCIAT, ACIOB 

 
Municipal Buildings 
Boston 
Lincolnshire   PE21 8QR 
Tel: 01205 314200 
Fax: 01205 364604 

 

 

 

22 July 2019 
 
TO MEMBERS OF THE ENVIRONMENT AND PERFORMANCE COMMITTEE 
 

 
NOTICE OF MEETING OF THE  

OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY - ENVIRONMENT & PERFORMANCE COMMITTEE 
 
Dear Councillor 
 

You are invited to attend a meeting of the  
Overview & Scrutiny - Environment & Performance Committee on 

Tuesday, 30th July, 2019 at 6.30 pm 
in the Municipal Buildings, West Street, Boston, PE21 8QR 

 
PHIL DRURY 
Chief Executive 
 
Membership: 
  

Chairman: Councillor Judith Skinner 
Vice Chairman: Councillor Tracey Abbott 
 Councillors Alison Austin, Peter Bedford, Shaun Blackman, 

George Cornah, Anton Dani, Deborah Evans, Paul Goodale, 
Neill Hastie and Judith Welbourn 
 

 
 

A G E N D A 
 
PART 1 - PRELIMINARIES 
 

A.   MINUTES (Pages 1 - 4) 
 

 To sign and confirm the  minutes of the previous meeting, held on 18th June 2019. 
 

B.   APOLOGIES  
 

 To receive apologies for absence. 
 

Public Document Pack



 
 

C.   DECLARATION OF INTERESTS  
 

 To receive declarations of interests in respect of any item on the agenda. 
 

D.   PUBLIC QUESTIONS  
 

 To answer any written questions received from members of the public no later than 
5 p.m. two clear working days prior to the meeting – for this meeting the deadline 
is 5 p.m. on Thursday 25th July 2019. 
 

 
PART II - AGENDA ITEMS 
 

1   CLIMATE CHANGE (Pages 5 - 10) 
 

 (A report by Phil Drury, Chief Executive) 
 
Portfolio Holder: Councillor Paul Skinner  
 

2   WORK PROGRAMME (Pages 11 - 12) 
 

 (For Members to note/discuss the Committee’s current work programme) 
 

3   CCTV POLICY REVIEW AND ANNUAL PERFORMANCE UPDATE (Pages 13 - 
46) 
 

 (A report by Andrew Haw, CCTV Manager) 
 
Portfolio Holder: Councillor Paul Skinner  
 

4   CRIME & DISORDER ANNUAL REVIEW/ASB/PSPO (ALCOHOL) STATISTICS 
2018/19 (Pages 47 - 64) 
 

 (A report by Ian Dunn, Anti-Social Behaviour Officer) 
 
Portfolio Holder: Councillor Paul Skinner  
 

5   BOSTON ALTERNATIVE ENERGY FACILITY CONSULTATION SUBMISSION 
(Pages 65 - 84) 
 

 (A report by Michelle Sacks, Deputy Chief Executive) 
 
Portfolio Holder: Councillor Yvonne Stevens  
 

 
 
 



 
Notes: 
 
The person to contact about the agenda and documents for this meeting is Janette Collier, 
Senior Democratic Services, Municipal Buildings, Boston, Telephone Number 01205 
314227.    email: janette.collier@boston.gov.uk  
 
Council Members who are not able to attend the meeting should notify as soon as possible 
giving the name of the Council Member (if any) who will be attending the meeting as their 
substitute. 
 
Alternative Versions 
 
Should you wish to have the agenda or report in an alternative format such as larger text, 
Braille or a specific language, please contact Democratic Services on direct dial (01205) 
314226 
 
 

Emergency Procedures 
In the event of a fire alarm sounding all attendees are asked to leave the building 

via the nearest emergency exit and make their way to the Fire Assembly Point 
located in the car park at the rear of the Municipal Buildings. 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY - ENVIRONMENT & 
PERFORMANCE COMMITTEE 
 

18 June 2019 

Present: Councillor Judith Skinner (Chairman), Councillor Tracey Abbott (Vice-
Chairman), Councillors Alistair Arundell, Alison Austin, Peter Bedford, Shaun Blackman, 
George Cornah, Deborah Evans, Paul Goodale, Neill Hastie and Judith Welbourn 
 
Officers –  
Head of Environmental Operations, Transformation & Governance Manager and 
Democratic Services Officer 
 
1   APOLOGIES 

 
Prior to receiving any apologies for absence the Chairman welcomed returning and new 
members to the first meeting of the committee within the new term of office. 
 
No apologies for absence were tabled. 
 
2   MINUTES 

 
The Chairman confirmed she would sign the minutes of the previous meeting being the 
only member in attendance who had been at that meeting. 
 
3   DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 

 
Councillor Alistair Arundell declared that he was the owner of two car parks within the 
Borough of Boston: Court Car Park and Waterfall Plaza car Park.  
 
4   PUBLIC QUESTIONS 

 
No public questions were tabled. 
 
5   WORK PROGRAMME AND INTRODUCTION TO THE COMMITTEE 

 
The Chairman presented the report to the committee addressing the remit of the 
committee; the various ways of working and then noted the existing work programme.  
Prior to inviting the Transformation Manager to present the ¼ performance reporting 
committee tabled the following comment and questions: 
 
Referencing the Terms of Reference a member sought clarity of two points:  the first 
being that they no longer appeared to include ‘holding the executive to account’ which 
the member believed had been the case historically, and the second question noted that 
in the Protocol for Scrutiny and Policy Development it stated under point 9 that ‘Where a 
majority group (or coalition) controls the Council, the Chairmen of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committees should be from an opposition group’ and the member asked why 
this had not happened? 
 
The Head of Environmental Operations responded and advised that the Terms of 
Reference had been lifted directly from the Council’s Constitution; as such the wording 
had been agreed through Full Council.  Referencing the point about the Chairmanship 

Page 1

Agenda Item A.



Overview & Scrutiny - Environment & Performance Committee 
18 June 2019 
 

the Lead Officer stated it was obviously a political decision and a matter for Group 
Leaders to discuss; it was not a matter for the committee. 
 
The Transformation and Governance Manager presented the ¼ 4 performance 
monitoring report, confirming that whilst it was historic in content as the information was 
only up to March 2019, previously it had been used as a tool to allow Scrutiny to identify 
potential areas to scrutinise.  The reporting provided performance measures for areas 
directly within the Council’s control and allowed targets to be set.  Targets were based 
on the actuals for the previous year. 
 
Providing a simple overview members were advised that the green star indicated the 
service area was performing 2% higher than its target; the blue circle identified 
performance on target or 2% either-way and the red triangle highlighted areas not on 
target.    Referencing page 19 the officer confirmed that the 3 measures in place in 
respect of planning were improving and the new measures in respect of Economic 
Development were on target with the prospects appearing quite good.   
 
The Transformation and Governance Manager noted further data including the changes 
in volumes on Fly Tipping; car park income which members were advised was on trend 
and the reduction in markets income and decline in markets, which again followed a 
national trend, was due for review in the new year.  One major problem Boston had was 
a neighbouring authority allowing a huge car boot sale which was also open to traders, 
every Saturday only 7 miles from Boston:  it impacted on the Boston Saturday market 
significantly. 
 
The Head of Environmental Operations thanked the Transformation and Governance 
Manager for presenting the report stating he felt she had demonstrated what a good tool 
the performance reporting was in identifying future scrutiny working. 
 
Member comment followed which included: 
 
Referencing concerns in respect of increases in fly tipping a member asked if data was 
available identifying where the fly tips were taking place and on what sort of regular 
basis?  The Head of Environmental Operations advised that data was held and reported 
nationally.  He stated the trend for fly tipping was up and down and that reflected 
national trends.  There had been a 12% increase over the last few years and whilst the 
Council had limited resources, it did have good partnership working.  Furthermore 
ongoing campaigns by local residents in reporting fly tipping incidents had proved 
successful and continued to be encouraged. 
 
Noting the car parking income a member asked why the market place had a blocked off 
area for no real reason.  Flowers pots and posts cordoned off a significant section of the 
market place and the member asked if there was any intent to free the empty area for 
parking.  The Transformation and Governance Manager advised that she would seek a 
response and report to members as the market place was owned by Lincolnshire 
County Council.  [Post meeting note: The area was redesigned in 2013 to give more 
priority to pedestrians.] 
 
A member questioned how Boston stood compared to other authorities in respect of 
contamination and further asked if the Council refused to collect certain bins as they 
knew they were contaminated?  The Head of Environmental Operations stated that 

Page 2



Overview & Scrutiny - Environment & Performance Committee 
18 June 2019 

 

Lincolnshire County Council were responsible for the costs of processing the waste; 
however, more contamination resulted in more costs for the public purse of Lincolnshire. 
 
Advising of a scheme in place in Australia for upcycling which in turn led to reductions in 
fly tipping, a member advised that once a month all properties were allowed to put out 
their unwanted items and any member of the public driving by could simply stop and 
take what goods they wanted.  At the end of the day the Local Council then sent round a 
lorry to collect what was leftover and it was often not very much.  The service had 
significantly impacted on fly tipping reducing the volumes substantially.  Whilst the 
Council would not make money, it would save a lot due to the reduction in fly tipping 
clearance.  The member asked if something similar could be considered in Boston.   The 
Head of Environmental Operations agreed that the ethos to reduce and re-use waste 
was important and promotion of reducing and reusing waste was something to consider. 
 
A member voiced concern at the delay in processing planning applications citing the 
serious knock on effects such delays could have on all developers.  He asked how long 
those applications already past the 13 week deadline actually took to be decided; why 
was there such a long delay for developers who completed their forms correctly; 
registered on time  and paid the fees?  Noting the number of undetermined applications 
the member stated the service being provided was not good enough and on looking at 
the figures he estimated 150 applications had not been determined on time in 2019.  
The member asked for the item to come through Scrutiny and the clerk suggested the 
item would lend itself to having an Inquiry evening.   
 
Prior to conclusion of the meeting the Head of Environmental Operations referred the 
committee back to the work programme and confirmed the items scheduled over the 
following two meetings.  Committee were then advised of two items which had been 
held over from the previous year, both of which related to Climate Change and both of 
which in light of ongoing activity at the Council were being considered as future scrutiny 
topics.   
 
A member then questioned the Business Rates Pilot Funds questioning if Boston was 
disadvantaged due to the high volume of agricultural business which was not rateable.    
The Head of Environmental Operations confirmed he would source the information.  
[Post meeting note: Here is the link to the Cabinet report: 
https://moderngov.boston.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=130&MId=1463&Ver=4  
(Item 8) – please contact Michelle Sacks for more information.] 
 
Closing the meeting the Chairman thanked the committee and the following 
recommendations were agreed. 
 

1. That an Inquiry Evening be scheduled to allow reporting in respect of 
performance concerns in respect of submissions of planning application 
and their determination outside the 13 week timeline. 
 

2. That the committee agree the benefits of the ¼ performance monitoring 
report and that it requests the attendance of the Transformation and 
Governance Manager to present the ¼ performance reporting to committee 
 

3. That the committee recommends to Full Council to publish the Annual 
Scrutiny Report 2018 – 2019. 

Page 3

https://moderngov.boston.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=130&MId=1463&Ver=4


Overview & Scrutiny - Environment & Performance Committee 
18 June 2019 
 

 
To do: 
 

1. That information relating to the cordoned off area within the market place be 
circulated to members – see post meeting note above. 
 

2. That information in respect of the potential disadvantage to Boston in respect of 
the Business rates Pilot Funds be circulated to members – see post meeting note 
above. 
 

That future consideration be given to the possibility of members looking into reduce and 
re-use options for waste operations. 
 
 
 
 
 

The Meeting Closed at 8.10 pm 
 

Page 4



 

 

 

 

 

REPORT TO:  ENVIRONMENT AND PERFORMANCE 
COMMITTEE 

DATE:   30 JULY 2019 

SUBJECT:  CLIMATE CHANGE 

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: COUNCILLOR PAUL SKINNER 

REPORT AUTHOR: CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

EXEMPT REPORT? NO 

 

 

SUMMARY 
 
To progress the Council resolution to consider environmental and other 
implications associated with climate change and report back with an action 
plan within the requested timeframe. 
 
 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
1. That the Environment & Performance Committee (E & P) convene and 

administer a working group drawn from the wider Council membership 
with support from external parties as appropriate. 

 
2. The working group shall consider all aspects and issues referred to in 

both “Motions on Notice” included on the Council agenda of 15 July 
2019. 

 
 

 

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
To progress the Council resolution. 
 
 

 

ALTERNATIVES CONSIDERED 
 
None 
 
 

 

 

B   O   S   T   O   N 
  B O R O U G H  C O U N C I L  

 

 

 

Page 5

Agenda Item 1



 
1.0  REPORT 
 
1.1  The Council agenda at the 15 July meeting included two “climate” 

 motions.  (These motions are attached as Appendix 1 for information).  
 As a result, members voted on a procedural motion.  The effect of the 
 procedural motion is to seek E & P consideration and detailed 
 reporting for referral back to Full Council. 

 
1.2 The Council resolution in full is as follows:- 
 

EXTRACT FROM THE DRAFT MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF FULL COUNCIL 
HELD ON 15 JULY 2019 
 
21 MOTIONS ON NOTICE  
 
Two Motions on Notice had been received in respect of climate change, and the 
Council’s response to those issues. 
 
The Monitoring Officer issued procedural advice on the decision making process for 
two similar motions on the same subject.  
 
A Procedural Motion in accordance with Rule 16(D) was moved by Councillor 
Nigel Welton and seconded by Councillor Anne Dorrian that: 
 
Noting the many impacts on the Council and our partners, it is proposed all 
aspects and issues referred to in both Motions on the agenda be referred to the 
next available meeting of the Environment and Performance Committee for 
detailed consideration and an action plan.  An interim report to be submitted to 
full Council in November 2019 and a final report to Council in January 2020.  
 
There was a consensus amongst Member for the proposed referral to scrutiny to 
identify the issues, actions and limitations, resources required and achievable 
timescales, subject to the work being completed in the current municipal year.  
 
A Procedural Motion in accordance with Rule 16(J) was moved by Councillor 
Nigel Welton, and seconded by Councillor Aaron Spencer, that the question be 
now put. 
 
On being put to the vote the Procedural Motion that the question be now put 
was carried. 
 
The Procedural Motion under Rule 16(D) was then put to the vote and it was  
 

 
RESOLVED that noting the many impacts on the Council and our partners, it 
is proposed all aspects and issues referred to in both Motions on the 
agenda be referred to the next available meeting of the Environment and 
Performance Committee for detailed consideration and an action plan.  An 
interim report to be submitted to full Council in November 2019 and a final 
report to Council in January 2020.  

 

 
2.0  WORKING GROUP 

 
2.1 It is suggested that E & P convene a Working Group to progress this 
 activity. 

Page 6



 
2.2 The Working Group should be drawn from all non-executive Members 

of the Council. 
 

2.3 The Leader of the Council has asked that Councillor Anne Dorrian be 
 invited to Chair the Group as the seconder of the procedural motion at 
 Council. 
 
2.4 The Working Group should:- 

 

 Establish its own agenda, timetable and meeting frequency. 
 

 Provide a brief update to the 24 September 2019 and 5 
November 2019 E & P Committee with final recommendations 
being submitted to the 7 January 2020 E & P Committee 
meeting, to achieve the requirements resolved by the motion to 
present a final report to Full Council on 20 January 2020. 

 

 Determine who to call to provide information, support and 
assistance to complete the task. 

  
3.0 CONCLUSION 
 
3.1 Councils are well placed to drive and influence action on climate 
 change through the services they deliver, their regulatory and strategic 
 function and their roles as community leaders, major employers, 
 large-scale procurers and social landlords. 
 
3.2 Action on climate change can deliver many local benefits, including 
 lower energy bills, economic regeneration and creation of local jobs, 
 reductions in fuel poverty and improved air quality.  Furthermore, 
 increasing resilience to climate change risks can result in avoided costs 
 from flood damage to buildings, infrastructure and services, enhances 
 green spaces and improved health. 
 
3.3 However, making a commitment to declare a Climate Change 
 Emergency is multi-faceted and members will want to be well sighted 
 on the policy, process, financial and other considerations such as a 
 timetable in making environmental commitments. 
 

 
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
At this point it is not yet established what financial commitment or not the 
Council will be required to make. The working group is asked to consider such 
matters in determining any recommendations.  Officers will support the 
process, however additional resource and expertise may be required to 
undertake its work and seek any approvals as necessary. 
 

 

Page 7



 

 
LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
The UK Climate Change Act of 2008 was the first piece of legislation to legally 
mandate a nation to reduce greenhouse has (GHG) emission - in this case by 
80% of 1990 levels by 2050.  Many countries have subsequently introduced 
their own equivalent legislation and in 2015, the Paris Agreement was signed 
by 197 countries with the aim of limiting “the increase in the global average 
temperature to well below 2◦C above pre-industrial levels and pursuing efforts 
to limit the temperature increase to 1.5◦C above pre-industrial levels”.  The 
2018 Special report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change  
(IPCC) on the impact of a 1.5◦C rise in global temperatures above pre-
industrial levels further highlighted the urgency with which GHG emissions 
must be reduced to avoid the worst impacts of climate change. 
 
In May of 2019, the UK Government declared a non-legally binding Climate 
Change Emergency declaration.   
 

 

 
ANY OTHER IMPLICATIONS 
 
None 
 

 
CONSULTATION 
 
No consultation undertaken. 
  

 
APPENDICES 
 
Appendices are listed below and attached to the back of the report: - 
 

APPENDIX 1 Council Motions - 15 July 2019 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
No background papers as defined in Section 100D of the Local Government 
Act 1972 were used in the production of this report.  
 

 

CHRONOLOGICAL HISTORY OF THIS REPORT 
 

 
A report on this item has not been previously considered by a Council  

 

Page 8



 

APPENDIX 1 

 

To consider the following motions in accordance with procedure rule 14: 
 
This Council: 
  
1.    Commits to make the Council’s activities carbon neutral by 2050. 

  
2.    Commits to working in partnership with, but not exclusively, the LGA, County Council and 

Parish Councils in Lincolnshire, local businesses and community groups with the aim of 
making Lincolnshire carbon neutral within the same time scale. 

  
3.    Calls on central government to provide the necessary powers and resources to achieve or 

better the 2050 target. 
  
4.    Notes the progress this Council has made in reducing carbon emissions. 

  
5.    Notes the declaration of a ‘Climate Emergency’. 

  
6.    Will receive an update on policy, details of action taken, an action plan, this will include 

annual reviews for the period up to 2030. 
  
PROPOSED BY: COUNCILLOR PAUL SKINNER 

  
SECONDED BY: COUNCILLOR JUDITH SKINNER 
 

This Council notes: 
  
That the impacts of climate breakdown are already causing serious damage around the world 
and as each year passes, we experience it; 
  
That the ‘Special Report on Global Warming of 1.5oC’, published by the Intergovernmental Panel 
on Climate Change (IPCC) in October 2018; 
  

(a)       describes the enormous harm that a 2oC average rise in global temperatures is 
likely to cause compared with a 1.5oC rise, and; 

  
(b)       confirms that limiting Global Warming to 1.5oCmay still be possible with ambitious 

action from national and sub-national authorities, civil society and the private 
sector. 

  
That all governments (national, regional and local) have a duty to act, and local governments that 
recognise this should not wait for their national governments to change their policies; 
  
That we are not experts in this field, but that is no excuse for inaction; 
  
That collectively as a local community, we need guidance, education, support, encouragement 
and structure in order to effect change; 
  
That strong policies to cut emissions also have associated health, wellbeing and economic 
benefits; and 
  
That recognising this, a growing number of UK local authorities have already passed ‘Climate 
Emergency’ motions. 

Page 9



  
 
This Council therefore commits to: 
  
Declare a ‘climate emergency’ that requires urgent action. 
  
Endeavour to make the Council’s activities net-zero carbon by 2030. 
  
Endeavour to achieve 100% clean energy across the Council’s full range of functions by 2030. 
  
Ensure that all strategic decisions, budgets and approaches to planning decisions are in line with 
a shift to zero carbon by 2030. 
  
Support and work with all other relevant agencies towards making the entire area zero carbon 
within the same timescale. 
  
Ensure that elected members together with officers embed this work in all areas and take 
responsibility for reducing as rapidly as possible, the carbon emissions resulting from the 
Council’s activities, ensuring that any new recommendations are fully costed and that the 
Cabinet and Scrutiny committees review council activities taking account of production and 
consumption emissions and produce an action plan within 12 months, together with budget 
actions and a measured baseline. 
  
Wherever possible, work with, influence and inspire partners across the district, county and 
region to help deliver this goal through all relevant strategies, plans and shared resources by 
developing a series of meetings, events and partner workshops. 
  
Request that the Council and partners take steps to proactively include young people in the 
process, ensuring that they have a powerful voice in shaping the future. 
  
Request that the Portfolio holder with responsibility for Climate Change convenes a Citizens’ 
Assembly in 2019 in order to involve the wider population of the Borough in this process.  This 
group would help develop their own role, identify how the Council’s activities might be made net-
zero carbon by 2030, consider the latest climate science and expert advice on solutions and to 
consider systematically the climate change impact of each area of the Council’s activities.  It will 
also recommend ways to maximise local benefits of these actions in other sectors such as 
employment, health, agriculture, transport and economy. 
  
Report on the level of investment in the fossil fuel industry that our pensions plan and other 
investments have, and review the Council’s investment strategy to give due consideration to 
climate change impacts in the investment portfolio. 
  
Ensure that all reports in preparation for the 2020/21 budget cycle and investment strategy will 
take into account the actions the council will take to address this emergency. 
  
Call on the UK Government to provide the powers, resources and help with funding to make this 
possible, and ask our local MP to do likewise. 
  
To review this motion annually in order to keep clear track of progress and to make adjustments 
as necessary.  
  
PROPOSED BY:     COUNCILLOR ANNE DORRIAN 

SECONDED BY:     COUNCILLOR NEILL HASTIE  
 

  

 

Page 10



Environment and Performance Committee Work Programme 2019–20 
 

THIS COMMITTEE’S REMIT IS ALIGNED TO COPORATE PRIORITIES:   CP1 PROSPERITY   and   CP3 PLACE 
 

DATE REPORT REPORTING PORTFOLIO HOLDER CABINET 
 
 

18.06.19 
 

 Introduction to committee / Work Programme 
 Annual Scrutiny Report 
 

 

Chairman and Lead Officer 
 

-  

17.07.19 
 

 

 

30.07.19 

 

1. Climate Change 
2. CCTV Policy Review and Annual Performance Update 
3. Crime & Disorder Annual Review /ASB/PSPO (Alcohol) 

Statistics  
4. Boston Alternative Energy Facility (BAEF) Consultation 

Phase 3  
 

 

Chief Executive 
Anti-Social Behaviour Officer 
CCTV Manager  
 
Deputy Chief Executive 
 

 

Councillor P Skinner  
“ 
“ 
 

Councillor Welton 
 

 

11.09.19 
 

 

 

 

24.09.19 

 

1. BAEF – Update by Representatives 
2. May Fair – Food Units Review 
3. Pilgrims 2020 – Update 

 

Deputy Chief Executive 
Town Centre Services Manager 
Head of Place and Space 

 

Councillor Welton 
Councillor Arundell 

“ 

 

23.10.19 
 

 

 

05.11.19 
 
 

 
 

 
 

04.12.19 
 

 

 

07.01.20 
 

   
 

22.01.20 

 

 

03.03.20 
 

   
 

19.02.19 

 

 

28.04.20 
 

   
 

01.04.20 

 

2020/2021 
 

 

 

2021/2022 
 

 

 

2022/2023 
 

 

P
age 11

A
genda Item

 2



 
 

The is a working document and subject to ongoing change.  It is a standing item at the beginning of every agenda. 
 

Options on Scrutiny Working:  
 

Direct Reporting.   Task and Finish Group Review.    Member Working Group.      Inquiry Session.      Member Briefing. 
 

There will be an Inquiry Session at 6 pm on 7th August on the Planning Process. 
 
 

Items carried over from the previous year 2018 / 19: 
 

The following items were tabled by the 2018/2019 committee and due to the depth of potential scrutiny involved in each, it was agreed to defer 
them for the new committee 2019/2020.    
 

The first meeting of this committee will consider the items and agree or not if they wish to proceed. 
 
 

1. Environmental Building and Construction: 
 

Purpose:   
To understand how effective the Council is in driving and promoting development which is both environmentally friendly and sustainable for both 
domestic and commercial buildings.   
To see how effective national policy is and the legislative framework at supporting the Council.   
Does the Council drive innovation within the construction sector?    
To seek initially what measures are in place to monitor local and national construction companies – how does Boston benchmark with others.   
What power does to the Council have to require and hold developers to account to be as ecologically friendly as possible?   
How active are the regular developers within the borough in providing sustainable development? 
Does Boston’s planning committee require sight at committee of any applicants’ intent to produce as ecologically friendly dwellings as possible? 
  

The level of scrutiny involved in this item would lead itself to a Task and Finish Group Review due to the amount of information gathering 
required both in-house and externally.   

 

 
2. Environmental Procurement: 
 

Purpose:   
To understand how effective the Council is with environmentally friendly and sustainable purchasing and procurement arrangements and to see 
how effective the Council is at supporting local business in helping to reduce its carbon footprint. 
 

The level of scrutiny involved in this item could lead itself to a short term member working group working directly in-house with the respective 
officers and then reporting back to committee.  Alternatively it members may wish an Inquiry Day.  

P
age 12



 

 

 

 

 

REPORT TO: ENVIRONMENT AND PERFORMANCE COMMITTEE 

DATE: 30th July 2019 

SUBJECT: CCTV POLICY REVIEW AND ANNUAL PERFORMANCE 
UPDATE 

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: COUNCILLOR PAUL SKINNER 

REPORT AUTHOR: ANDREW HAW, CCTV MANAGER 

EXEMPT REPORT? NO 

 

 

SUMMARY 
 
1. CCTV Annual Update 
 
Boston Borough Council’s public realm  CCTV system consists of digital high 
definition CCTV cameras CCTV control room equipment that cover Boston town 
centre, Kirton as well as other areas including Boston College, Pilgrim Hospital, 
Redstone Industrial Estate and Pescod Square. 
 
The CCTV report attached at Appendix A provides a range of performance data for 
2018/19 for members to review, comment, query and challenge. The data range in 
review is from 01 April 2018 to 31st March 2019. 
 
The Council also monitors cameras on behalf of NKDC, SHDC and ELDC, however 
detailed incident data for these council areas is NOT included in this report. 
 
During the above time period there have been: 
 

 Recorded 17,292 daily log entries.  

 Completed 3185 incident records.  

 Boston Borough Council received 505 Out of Hours service calls. CCTV 
operators received 1540 calls for East Lindsey District Council and Boston 
Borough Council combined. 

 CCTV Operators directly contributed to 260 arrests for the Boston Borough 
Council area, and 466 arrests for the total CCTV area. 

 CCTV Operators produced 208 pieces of evidence from the Boston Borough 
Council area for Lincolnshire Police / Court use. Operators produced 428 
pieces of evidence in total.  

 
The report includes a breakdown of incident categories of crime and anti-social 
behaviour, with crime data for context.  

B   O   S   T   O   N 
  B O R O U G H  C O U N C I L  

 

 

 

Page 13

Agenda Item 3



 
2. CCTV POLICY UPDATE 
 
Version 1.0 of the Council’s CCTV Policy became effective in December 2015.  In 
accordance with its own requirements, it has been reviewed by the Head of Housing, 
Health and Community Services with members of the Management Group and 
requires Cabinet approval.  Although only very minor changes are being 
recommended, it is appropriate for the Policy to be fully scrutinised and is therefore 
presented to the Committee at Appendix B. 
 
The Policy covers the scope and operation of the “public realm” CCTV systems we 
own or manage under various agreements with neighbouring authorities and other 
organisations.  It also covers the scope and operation of the CCTV systems in 
operation within a number of our operational buildings and the system installed on our 
fleet.  The Committee are invited to scrutinise the document and make any 
recommendations it feels appropriate, referring them with the draft to Cabinet for 
approval. 
 
 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

1. That Members review, comment, and challenge the information presented 
within Appendix A. 

2. That Members scrutinise the CCTV Policy set out at Appendix B, referring it to 
Cabinet for adoption with any changes the Committee feels necessary. 

 
 

 

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
There is a request for officers to report to Members annually on CCTV activity. 
 
 

 

ALTERNATIVES CONSIDERED 
 
Members may wish not to consider matters and defer the update. It is recognised 
good practice to undertake regular monitoring and review of the service. 
 
 

 

  

Page 14



REPORT 
 
1  2019 CCTV PERFORMANCE 
 
1.1  Appendix A provides statistical data in relation to the Council’s public realm 

CCTV system for the financial year 2018/19.  The Committee is invited to 
query and challenge the data by asking questions of the CCTV Manager at its 
meeting. 

 

2  BOSTON BOROUGH COUNCIL CCTV POLICY 

2.1  All CCTV data captured by the Council’s various systems is owned by the 
Council and can only be used in accordance with the Council’s CCTV Policy 
and prevailing statutory requirements which include but are not limited to the 
Data Protection Act 2018, The Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 
and the Protection of Freedoms Act 2012. The Council also takes proper 
regard to the Surveillance Camera Code of Practice 2013 issued by the 
Surveillance Camera Commissioner which contains 12 Guiding Principles.  

2.2  Version 1.0 of the Council’s CCTV Policy became effective in December 2015.  
In addition to meeting the requirements set out at section 2.1, the Policy also 
demonstrates the Council’s commitment to following the good practice advice 
set out in “In the picture: A data protection code of practice for surveillance 
cameras and personal information” published by the Information 
Commissioner’s Office in May 2015.  Version 1.5 has been reviewed by the 
Head of Housing, Health and Community Services and members of the CCTV 
Management Group with the very minor changes recommended being 
highlighted within Appendix B. There are no material changes to this 
document. 

 
2.3   The purpose and function of the Council’s other CCTV systems installed within 

various operational buildings and on our refuse fleet remain fit for purpose in 
accordance with the CCTV Policy.   

 
2.4  The Committee is asked to scrutinise the policy revision presented at 

Appendix B, make any recommendations it feels appropriate, referring them 
and the draft to Cabinet for adoption. 

 
 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
There are no financial implications associated with this statistical report beyond the 
council’s agreed budgetary framework. 
 

 
  

Page 15



LEGAL & EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
The Surveillance Camera Code of Practice 2013 and the Information Commissioners 
Code of Practice 2015 recommend Annual Performance scrutiny of CCTV is 
undertaken by Elected Members. 
 
In respect of CCTV data, the Council is required to comply with all prevailing statutory 
requirements which include but are not limited to the Data Protection Act 2018, The 
Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 and the Protection of Freedoms Act 
2012. The Council also has to take proper regard to the Surveillance Camera Code of 
Practice 2013 issued by the Surveillance Camera Commissioner. 
 

 
 

ANY OTHER IMPLICATIONS 
 
None identified  
 

 
 
CONSULTATION 
 
CMT 
Portfolio Holder  
 
 
  

Page 16



APPENDICES 
 
Appendices are listed below and attached to the back of the report: - 
 

APPENDIX A CCTV Report 2018-2019 

APPENDIX B BBC CCTV Policy Update – Version 1.5 

  

 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
Background papers used in the production of this report are listed below: - 
 

Document title Where the document can be viewed 
 

Data Protection Act, 2018  

Regulation of Investigatory 
Powers Act, 2000 

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2000/
23/contents 

Protection of Freedoms Act, 2012 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2012/
9/contents/enacted 

“Surveillance Camera Code of 
Practice”, Home Office, June 2013  
 

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/s
ystems/uploads/attachments_data/file/282
884/SurveillanceCameraCodePractice.pdf 

“In the picture: A data protection 
code of practice for surveillance 
cameras and personal 
information”, ICO, May 2015 –  

https://ico.org.uk/media/for-
organsiations/documents/1542/cctv-code-
of-practice.pdf 
 

Surveillance Camera 
Commissioner  

https://www.gov.uk/government/organisati
ons/surveillance-camera-commissioner 

 
 

CHRONOLOGICAL HISTORY OF THIS REPORT 
 

 
A report on this item has not been previously considered by a Council body 
 

 
 

Page 17

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2000/23/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2000/23/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2012/9/contents/enacted
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2012/9/contents/enacted
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/systems/uploads/attachments_data/file/282884/SurveillanceCameraCodePractice.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/systems/uploads/attachments_data/file/282884/SurveillanceCameraCodePractice.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/systems/uploads/attachments_data/file/282884/SurveillanceCameraCodePractice.pdf
https://ico.org.uk/media/for-organsiations/documents/1542/cctv-code-of-practice.pdf
https://ico.org.uk/media/for-organsiations/documents/1542/cctv-code-of-practice.pdf
https://ico.org.uk/media/for-organsiations/documents/1542/cctv-code-of-practice.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/surveillance-camera-commissioner
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/surveillance-camera-commissioner


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

CCTV Annual Statistical Report 

 

2019 
  

APPENDIX A 

Page 19



Page 2 of 8 
 
 

Introduction 
 
This document provides an examination of data collected by the CCTV department of 
Boston Borough Council. This data is collected and studied in order better understand the 
performance and achievements of Boston's CCTV unit but is clearly not (nor indeed 
intended to be), a full picture of criminal activity within the areas it covers.  
 
The majority of data in this report has been exported from the 'VTAS' software in use by 
Boston CCTV. Boston CCTV has no set targets for incidents or arrests, and does not receive 
any benefits or funding based on results or achievements. Altering or manipulating statistics 
would serve us no purpose, so the figures within this document can be confidently taken as 
factual. 
 
 

Scale of Data 
 
The data relates to the period between 01/04/18 and 31/03/19. Within this time period, 
CCTV operators have: 
 

Recorded 17,292 Daily log entries. 
Completed 3185 incident records which includes... 
 
639 Boston camera area incidents. 
521 East Lindsey camera area incidents. 
158 South Holland camera area incidents. 
  25 North Kesteven camera area incidents. 
 
Dealt with 505 Boston Borough Council Out of Hours Telephone Calls 
Dealt with 1035 East Lindsey District Council Out of Hours Telephone Calls 

 
CCTV contributed to 466 arrests (260 relating to Boston only) 
 
Produced 428 pieces of evidence for Police / Court use. 
 
    208 of these for the Boston area. 
      80 for the East Lindsey area. 
      85 for the South Holland area. 
      55 for the North Kesteven area. 
 

 
 

  

Page 20



Page 3 of 8 
 
 

Arrests / Incidents 
 
The chart below shows a monthly breakdown of the 208 arrests where CCTV has provided a 
direct contribution in Boston. Also included in this chart, are the number of evidential CCTV 
packages seized by Police, the number of CCTV incidents logged, and also the number of 
incidents logged in regards to the Council’s Out of Hours service. Boston Borough Council 
monitor CCTV for several other local authority areas, but the data within this report relates to 
Boston only. Some data from other areas is included to give some context to the work of the 
CCTV Control Room.  
 

BBC CCTV Performance Data 18/19 

Month Arrests Evidence Incidents 
Out of 
Hours 
Calls 

April 20 17 63 38 

May 32 18 72 37 

June 18 16 49 32 

July 17 23 50 87 

August 32 14 66 50 

September 24 14 48 30 

October 19 19 49 30 

November 13 11 38 38 

December 18 13 43 55 

January 31 20 54 30 

February 14 13 41 37 

March 22 30 55 39 

Total 260 208 628 503 

 
 
  

Page 21



Page 4 of 8 
 
 

Boston - Incident Category Breakdown 
2017/2018 

 
2018/2019 

Incident Category No.   Incident Category No. 

Abduction 1 
 

  

Alarm Activation 44 
 

Alarm Activation 18 

Anti-Social Behaviour 78 
 

Anti-Social Behaviour 38 

ASB & Bail – Breach of Conditions 2 
 

Breach of Conditions or Ban 7 

Burglary 14 
 

Burglary 10 

Criminal Damage 19 
 

Criminal Damage & Arson 10 

Domestic Disturbance 26 
 

Domestic Abuse 7 

Drink Offence – Other 32 
 

Alcohol 27 

Drink Offence – PSPO 11 
   

Drugs 22 
 

Drugs 21 

Emergency Planning 2 
 

Emergencies 3 

Fire 4 
 

Fire / Ambulance / Sudden 
Death 

4 

Fraud 3 
   

    
 

Licensing 1 

Littering / Dog Fouling / Urinating etc. 57 
 

Environmental Crime 17 

May Fair - ASB 2 
 

Events 4 

Misc 37 
 

Other Crime 15 

Missing Person / Concern for Welfare 84 
 

Search for Person 85 

Murder / Attempted Murder 1 
   

Public Order 110  
Public Order 46 

 
Violence and Sexual 40 

RIPA 16 
   

Robbery 8 
 

Robbery 6 

Sexual 6 
   

Special Police Operations 5 
   

Suspicious Activity 50 
 

Suspicious Behaviour 35 

Theft – Shoplifting / Retail 156 
 

Shoplifting 124 

Theft from Motor Vehicle 1 
 

Vehicle Crime 4 

Theft of Cycle 5 
 

Bicycle Theft 6 

Theft of Vehicle 5 
   

Theft Other 10 
 

Other Theft 10 

Traffic Collision 26 
 

Traffic Offence 64 
Traffic Drink Driving 14 

 
Traffic No Insurance 12 

 
Traffic – other 25 

 
Vehicles through Strait Bargate 3 

   
Wanted Person 63 

 
    

Weapons 26 
 

Weapons 11 

 
 
  

Page 22



Page 5 of 8 
 
 
The table on the previous page shows a comparison between the 2017/18 report and 
2018/19. You will notice that some categories have changed from last year, and this is to 
keep these classifications more in line with categories from published Police statistics. 
Hopefully this will make for better comparison between police crime data, and our data from 
the CCTV patrolled zones. Some changes have also been made to be a more accurate 
indicator of CCTV activities. For instance the ‘Wanted Persons’ section always contained a 
high number of incidents, however these were not necessarily an indicator if work carried out 
by operators in the control room. This has now been changed to ‘Search for Person’, so 
operators can log when they are searching for wanted persons or missing persons. 
 
CCTV is by nature more able to deal with certain offences better than others. As expected 
shoplifting and public order / assault offences are most frequent, as is the case historically. 
Traffic offences also feature highly when they are joined together as a group.  
 

If we look at a breakdown of 
traffic offences where CCTV 
has been involved, the biggest 
percentage is for that of traffic 
collisions. 
 
Here the general split is similar 
to that of last year. 
 
Whereas CCTV cameras are 
not specifically placed to 
capture road traffic collisions, 
their positions near busy roads 
and junctions often capture 
this kind of incident.  

 
 

Cameras / Locations  
 

 
2017/2018 2018/2019 

 

Camera Incidents Incidents 

1 Camera 20 - Ingram Memorial 175 99 

2 Camera 07 - Strait Bargate 131 92 

3 Camera 06 - Market Place 124 91 

4 Camera 03 - West Street 148 87 

5 Camera 08 - Strait Bargate 98 78 

6 Camera 05 - Market Place 130 65 

7 Camera 10 - Wide Bargate 73 64 

8 Camera 01 - West Street 107 63 

9 Camera 23 - Haven Bridge 78 60 

10 Camera 24 - Rosegarth Street 46 49 

 
The list here shows the top 10 Boston cameras in regards to the numbers of incidents in 
which they have been used. The number of incidents from 2017/18 is included for 
comparison 

25%

53%

22%

CCTV Traffic Offences

Drink Driving

Collision

No Insurance / Tax /
license etc

Page 23



Page 6 of 8 
 
 
 
Incidents are often covered by more than one camera in order to follow proceedings or cover 
the incident from multiple angles for better evidence capture. Camera 20 is top again as it 
covers the entire market place, and is used to support other cameras that may be closer to 
the problem area.  
 

Police Data 
 
As previously mentioned, we have amended our incident categories to fit better with official 
Police statistics which can be viewed freely online at www.police.uk. The table below shows 
police collected data regarding reported crime within a 1 mile radius centred on the 
Municipal Buildings. This is then compared with the CCTV performance data. 
 

When we compare all reported crime in 
the area with CCTV data we see on 
average CCTV is involved in 11% of 
incidents. 
 
Similarly if we compare the total reported 
crime (5248) with the number of evidence 
disks produced for the Boston area (208) 
then we can conclude that CCTV 
provides video evidence for 4% of 
reported crime.  
 
These figures may not seem particularly 
impressive, until we look at how this fits 
into the bigger picture nationally. Home 
Office figures suggest that in England 
and Wales, only 8% of all reported crime 
results in a prosecution. We can start to 
see how important CCTV evidence is for 
providing undisputable proof for those 
prosecutions.  

 
 
Note: Police data has seen an overall increase in reported crime over the past year. 
However this has been attributed to significant change in the way Lincolnshire police record 
crime.  
 
The comparison above does not include some of the other incidents that CCTV deal with 
that do not necessarily involve the Police. For instance, Environmental crime (littering, fly 
tipping, urinating etc.) and the Out of Hours service. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Offence Category Police CCTV 

Anti-Social Behaviour 1141 38 

Bicycle Theft 204 6 

Burglary 256 10 

Criminal Damage & Arson 414 10 

Drugs 230 21 

Other Crime 83 15 

Other Theft 337 10 

Public Order 250 46 

Robbery 17 6 

Shoplifting 738 124 

Theft From the Person 37 0 

Vehicle Crime 117 4 

Violence and Sexual 1370 40 

Weapons 54 11 

Page 24

http://www.police.uk/


Page 7 of 8 
 
 
 

Out of Hours Service 
 
The Out of Hours services for Boston Borough Council and East Lindsey District Council are 
operated from 24hr CCTV control room. When the main areas of Council business are 
closed, this maintains a contact point for members of the public needing emergency 
assistance. Calls can be varied and sometimes challenging for staff to reach the best 
solution. Staff are provided with a guide book for most types of call but often need to think 
‘outside the box’ to assist callers.  
 
The Out of Hours Service has become a significant part of the CCTV operator’s duties, 

logging 1540 Out of Hours calls for 2018/19. This is slightly down from last year by 30 calls. 
 
 
The busiest period of time for Out of Hours calls is still Saturday daytime, and more heavily 
so in the morning. During the week, peak times are between 7am to 9am and 5pm to 8pm.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 25



Page 8 of 8 
 
 
 
 

2019/20 
 
At the beginning of the 2019/2020 period we are in the process of upgrading some of our 
systems. This has already improved the number of images we can display within the control 
room, and has also improved responsiveness and functionality. The new system gives us 
greater flexibility in the types of cameras that can be installed in the future.  
 
We have plans in place to increase performance of the CCTV system by including static high 
resolution cameras trained permanently on ‘hotspot’ areas. This should increase the 
evidence capture for incidents, and increase the effectiveness of the system. We will trial this 
in a couple of key locations before looking at whether this is something we can roll out to 
cover the most active areas. 
 
We will be consulting with staff about proposed changes to help adjust resources to better 
cope with peak times of activity, including the Out of Hours service.  

Page 26



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Version 1.5 

Published, XXX 2019 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

BOSTON BOROUGH COUNCIL 

CCTV POLICY 

APPENDIX B 

Page 27



Boston Borough Council – CCTV Policy – Version 1.5, XXX 2019 

 2 

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

1. INTRODUCTION AND DEFINITIONS .................................................................................................... 3 

2. PURPOSE ................................................................................................................................................... 5 

3. PRIVACY ..................................................................................................................................................... 6 

4. LEGISLATION ............................................................................................................................................ 7 

5. THE MANAGEMENT GROUP AND CHANGES TO THE POLICY .................................................... 7 

6. GUIDING PRINCIPLES ............................................................................................................................. 8 

7. RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE OWNER .................................................................................................. 9 

8. PUBLIC INFORMATION AND ACCOUTABILITY ................................................................................. 9 

9. ASSESSMENT OF THE SCHEME .......................................................................................................... 9 

10. CONTROL ROOM STAFFING ........................................................................................................... 10 

11. BREACHES OF THIS POLICY ........................................................................................................... 11 

12. CONTROL AND OPERATION OF CAMERAS ................................................................................ 11 

13. ACCESS AND SECURITY OF CONTROL ROOM AND POLICE AIRWAVES .......................... 11 

14. RECORDED MATERIAL AND STILL IMAGES ............................................................................... 12 

15. DEALING WITH INCIDENTS .............................................................................................................. 13 

16. POLICE CONTACT AND USE OF THE COUNCIL’S CCTV SYSTEMS ..................................... 13 

17. MAJOR INCIDENTS ............................................................................................................................ 14 

18. COMPLAINTS ....................................................................................................................................... 14 

19. LEAD AND DULY AUTHORISED OFFICERS ................................................................................. 15 

20. APPENDIX 1: DULY AUTHORISED OFFICERS ............................................................................ 16 

21. APPENDIX 2 – POLICY REVISION HISTORY ................................................................................ 17 

22. REFERENCES AND USEFUL LINKS ............................................................................................... 19 

 

  

Page 28



Boston Borough Council – CCTV Policy – Version 1.5, XXX 2019 

 3 

1. INTRODUCTION AND DEFINITIONS 

1.1. Boston Borough Council (BBC) has installed a comprehensive public realm 

CCTV surveillance system which covers key public spaces, namely town 

and village centres, car parks, playing fields and other Council assets in 

Boston and Kirton.   In addition, the Council has installed a number of 

separate systems at key Council premises and on a number of its 

operational vehicles.  The Council also provides public realm CCTV services 

to neighbouring authorities under individual monitoring agreements.   The 

following CCTV systems are in use by Boston Borough Council: 

 General Public Space CCTV System – this is the Council’s main 

system which covers key public spaces, namely town centre areas, 

car parks, playing fields and other Council assets in Boston and 

Kirton and in neighbouring authority areas.   The cameras within this 

system are monitored in the Council’s central CCTV Control Suite.   

Live images are visible to staff on site; recorded images are 

accessible to duly authorised officers in accordance with this policy 

 GMLC CCTV System – this system provides internal and external 

CCTV coverage of the Council’s Geoff Moulder Leisure Centre.   Live 

images are visible to staff on site.   Images from GMLC are also 

visible to staff in the Council’s CCTV Control Suite.   Live images are 

visible to staff on site; recorded images are accessible to duly 

authorised officers in accordance with this policy. 

 St John’s Depot CCTV System – this system provides internal and 

external CCTV coverage of the Council’s operations depot.   Live 

images are visible to staff on site; recorded images are accessible to 

duly authorised officers in accordance with this policy. 

 Boston Crematorium CCTV System - this system provides internal 

and external CCTV coverage of the Council’s crematorium.   Live 

images are visible to staff on site; recorded images are accessible to 

duly authorised officers in accordance with this policy. 

 Boston Guildhall CCTV System – this system provides internal 

CCTV coverage within the Council’s Guildhall.   Live images are 

visible to staff on site; recorded images are accessible to duly 

authorised officers in accordance with this policy. 

 Municipal Buildings CCTV System - this system provides internal 

CCTV coverage within the Council’s Municipal Buildings.  This 

system was upgraded in March 2018 to meet the security 

requirements of the Department of Works and Pensions who are co-

located in the Council’s offices.   Live images are visible to staff on 

Page 29



Boston Borough Council – CCTV Policy – Version 1.5, XXX 2019 

 4 

site; recorded images are accessible to duly authorised officers in 

accordance with this policy. 

 IT Server Room CCTV System - this system provides internal CCTV 

coverage within the Council’s IT server room.  Live images are visible 

to staff on site; recorded images are accessible to duly authorised 

officers in accordance with this policy. 

 Operational Vehicle CCTV System – the Council has fitted a 

number of its operational vehicles with CCTV cameras.   Live images 

are visible within the vehicle; recorded images are accessible to duly 

authorised officers in accordance with this policy. 

1.2. Definitions: 

 “BBC”    The Council of the Borough of Boston. 

  “The Surveillance Area” The areas covered by the CCTV cameras 

“Duly Authorised Officer”  The Lead Officer and other Officers duly 

authorised by the Policy (and where necessary, 

Licensed) to review recorded images captured by 

the relevant CCTV systems. 

“CCTV Operator”   Any member of staff employed by BBC to monitor 

CCTV images at the Control Room. 

“The Management Group” The group comprising of members of the 

Corporate Management Team (CMT) and Lead 

Officers (Service Managers) responsible for the 

services where CCTV systems are in use. 

 “Control Room”   The central monitoring centre operated by Boston 

Borough Council in Boston.   

“DPA”    Data Protection Act 2018. 

“RIPA”    The Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000. 

“Police airwaves”    The radio communication network used by the 

police. 

1.3. The CCTV system is owned by Boston Borough Council and the control 

room is staffed by trained Council employees. 

1.4. The CCTV Control Room will monitor and control the system for 24 hours 

per day, each day of the year. 

1.5. In addition to BBC staff, this policy applies to the Police and other interested 

parties.   It provides a clear statement of the purpose of the scheme and 

Page 30



Boston Borough Council – CCTV Policy – Version 1.5, XXX 2019 

 5 

gives guidance on the operation and management of the system.  This 

Policy applies to the operation and use of all camera systems monitored by 

Boston Borough Council under all of its monitoring agreements. 

1.6. All recorded material is owned by Boston Borough Council and each system 

and will be used in accordance with all prevailing statutory requirements 

including but not being limited to the Data Protection Act 2018, the General 

Data Protection Regulation, The Law Enforcement Directive (EU Data 

Protection Directive 2016/680), The Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 

2000 and the Protection of Freedoms Act 2012.  The Council also takes 

proper regard to the Surveillance Camera Code of Practice 2013 issued by 

the Surveillance Camera Comissioner and will work to develop the good 

practice advice set out in ‘In the picture: A data protection code of practice 

for surveillance cameras and personal information’ published by the 

Information Commissioner’s Office in May 2015. 

 

2. PURPOSE 

2.1. The primary objectives of the Council’s CCTV systems (and those 

monitored by the Council under its various agreements) are to provide a 

safe environment for the benefit of those who live, work, trade, visit, service 

and enjoy local facilities.   Their collective purpose is to:  

 Reduce the fear of crime and provide reassurance to the public 

through provision of a Public Space CCTV System. 

 Assist in the detection and prevention of crime, anti-social 

behaviour and the maintenance of public order. 

 Facilitate the apprehension and prosecution of offenders in 

relation to crime, public order and anti-social behaviour. 

 To collect and provide evidence for the purpose of criminal and 

civil litigation by the police or other bodies with a responsibility for 

enforcing law, licensing regimes and other regulatory functions. 

 To protect Council assets, resources, staff, land and other public 

facilities and ensure reasonable, justified and proportionate 

compliance with Council Policy and Procedure. 

 To assist in improving the environment of the area. 

 To provide assistance to emergency services. 

2.2. The primary objectives have been drawn up by the Management Group and 

approved by BBC.   They are based on local concerns and pressing needs 

Page 31



Boston Borough Council – CCTV Policy – Version 1.5, XXX 2019 

 6 

and will be reviewed at least annually by the Management Group and 

reported accordingly. 

2.3.  The CCTV systems will be primarily used for the provision of recordings for 

evidential purposes to the Police and other bodies who have relevant 

enforcement powers.   Any data captured by any system may also be used 

for other purposes where it is reasonable, justified and proportionate to do 

so and where relevant authorisation exists.    

2.4. This Policy will be supplemented with a separate operational procedural 

guide for authorised officers and system operators.    

3. PRIVACY 

3.1. The CCTV systems will be included in BBC’s Data Protection Register and 

registered with the Information Commissioner and operate in accordance 

with all data protection requirements.   

3.2. Every consideration will be given to the right of the general public to go 

about their daily business with minimum loss of privacy.   Whilst total privacy 

cannot be guaranteed within a CCTV area, the cameras and their 

recordings will not be used to unduly monitor persons going about their 

lawful business.   Where appropriate, cameras will be configured with 

‘privacy screening’ preventing privacy intrusions. 

3.3. Persons will only be actively monitored for any length of time if there is 

suspicion or knowledge that an offence may have occurred or be about to 

occur or where other relevant authorisation is in place, e.g., an authorisation 

to use Directed Covert Surveillance under RIPA.   In any event, a 

comprehensive incident log will be recorded giving a reason for the 

monitoring of the individual.  All operators and duly authorised officers must 

be able to justify their actions at all times.   

3.4. CCTV Operators using and monitoring the General Public Space CCTV 

system must only use the cameras to view public areas and not to look into 

the interior of any private premises or any other area where an infringement 

of privacy of individuals may occur.   The only exceptions to this rule are: 

 If an authorised operation is mounted under the Regulation of 

Investigatory Powers Act  

 Response to Police or other relevant enforcement agencies’ request for 

assistance following a crime being committed 

 A CCTV Operator happens to observe something which they 

reasonably, justifiably and proportionately believe indicates that a crime 

is being, or is about to be committed in a non-public area.    

Page 32



Boston Borough Council – CCTV Policy – Version 1.5, XXX 2019 

 7 

 Any event where an Operator takes a decision positively to view a 

private area must be comprehensively recorded in an incident log.  

Operators will be required to justify their actions.   Any breach of this 

condition of employment will result in disciplinary proceedings and may 

lead to the dismissal of the Operator. 

3.5 Any changes to the processing of CCTV derived information, footage or 

stills will be assessed by the Data Protection Officer to determine if a 

formal Data Protection Impact Assessment (DPIA) is required (GDPR: 

Article 35(2)) 

 

4. LEGISLATION 

4.1. The CCTV systems will be operated in accordance with all prevailing 

legislation and Statutory Codes of Guidance, including but not being limited 

to: the Human Rights Act 1998, Data Protection Act 2018, Regulation of 

Investigatory Powers Act 2000, Freedom of Information Act 2000, Protection 

of Freedoms Act 2012 and the Surveillance Camera Code of Practice (June 

2013). 

4.2. Where any doubt exists about the lawful and proper use of any of the 

Council’s CCTV Systems, the data they capture or data gathered by way of 

any monitoring contract, legal advice or advice from the Surveillance 

Commissioner’s Office will be sought. 

 

5. THE MANAGEMENT GROUP AND CHANGES TO THE POLICY 

5.1. The Management Group will oversee compliance with this policy and 

collectively recommend any changes necessary.  At all times the 

Management Group will have due regard to the 12 guiding principles 

set out within the Surveillance Camera Code of Practice, 2013. 

5.2. Minor and consequential changes to this policy can be made by the CCTV 

Manager on behalf of the Management Group.  Any changes necessary will 

be fully documented and communicated to all relevant staff and external 

agencies where appropriate.   

5.3. This policy is subject to version control and will be formally reviewed 

annually where it will be approved by the Council’s Cabinet.  Any major 

changes necessary outside of the annual review will also require formal 

approval by the Council’s Cabinet.  APPENDIX 2 provides the revision 

history.  

 

Page 33



Boston Borough Council – CCTV Policy – Version 1.5, XXX 2019 

 8 

6. GUIDING PRINCIPLES 

6.1  In accordance with the Surveillance Camera Code of Practice (2013), the 

following 12 guiding principles have been adopted within the Boston 

Borough Council CCTV system.  They are: 

 Use of a surveillance camera system must always be for a specified purpose 

which is in pursuit of a legitimate aim and necessary to meet an identified 

pressing need. 

 The use of a surveillance camera system must take into account its effect on 

individuals and their privacy, with regular reviews to ensure its use remains 

justified. 

 There must be as much transparency in the use of a surveillance camera 

system as possible, including a published contact point for access to 

information and complaints. 

 There must be clear responsibility and accountability for all surveillance 

camera system activities including images and information collected, held and 

used. 

 Clear rules, policies and procedures must be in place before a surveillance 

camera system is used, and these must be communicated to all who need to 

comply with them. 

 No more images and information should be stored than that which is strictly 

required for the stated purpose of a surveillance camera system, and such 

images and information should be deleted once their purposes have been 

discharged. 

 Access to retained images and information should be restricted and there 

must be clearly defined rules on who can gain access and for what purpose 

such access is granted; the disclosure of images and information should only 

take place when it is necessary for such a purpose or for law enforcement 

purposes. 

 Surveillance camera system operators should consider any approved 

operational, technical and competency standards relevant to a system and its 

purpose and work to meet and maintain those standards. 

 Surveillance camera system images and information should be subject to 

appropriate security measures to safeguard against unauthorised access and 

use. 

Page 34



Boston Borough Council – CCTV Policy – Version 1.5, XXX 2019 

 9 

 There should be effective review and audit mechanisms to ensure legal 

requirements, policies and standards are complied with in practice, and 

regular reports should be published. 

 When the use of a surveillance camera system is in pursuit of a legitimate 

aim, and there is a pressing need for its use, it should be used in the most 

effective way to support public safety and law enforcement with the aim of 

processing images and information of evidential value. 

 Any information used to support a surveillance camera system which 

compares against a reference database for matching purposes should be 

accurate and kept up to date. 

7. RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE OWNER 

7.1. The “owner” of the systems set out at section 1.1 is Boston Borough 

Council, Municipal Buildings, West Street, Boston, PE21 8QR. 

7.2. Where Boston Borough Council monitors cameras ‘owned’ by another local 

authority or private operator and regardless of whether or not it is the Data 

Controller, the Council will apply this policy.   

7.3. Spot monitoring or audits may be carried out at anytime by at least two 

members of the Management Group.   If the audit involves the duties of one 

member of the Group, then that member should not be part of the audit 

team and the other representatives should carry out the audit. 

 

8. PUBLIC INFORMATION AND ACCOUTABILITY  

8.1. Cameras used within any of the CCTV Systems set out in section 1.1 will 

not be hidden. 

8.2. Signs that CCTV cameras are operating will be displayed in and around 

surveillance areas in visible locations.  There is however no requirement to 

place signs directly under individual cameras. 

8.3. Copies of this Policy and the Council’s Complaints Procedure will be made 

freely available.  

8.4. An Annual CCTV Report will be published by the owner as set out within 

section 9.     

 

9. ASSESSMENT OF THE SCHEME 

Page 35



Boston Borough Council – CCTV Policy – Version 1.5, XXX 2019 

 10 

9.1. The “Owner” is responsible for ensuring that the Council’s CCTV Systems 

are evaluated at least annually. 

9.2. Evaluation of the Council’s General Public Space CCTV System will 

include data on the following performance indicators.      

 Logged number of incidents 

 Logged number of incidents involving arrests 

 Number of evidential packages produced 

 Number of  incidents  

9.3  This information will be reported on a quarterly basis to Scrutiny, Cabinet 

and Council.  Quarterly performance information will be amalgamated into an 

annual report that will also include an evaluation of the Council’s other CCTV 

systems. 

 

10. CONTROL ROOM STAFFING 

10.1. The owner will be responsible for the selection and recruitment of all staff 

employed to work with the CCTV Control Room. 

10.2. An effective and fair system of recruitment has been established and is 

maintained by the Council.  Staff to be employed within the Control Room 

are all subject to Police standard vetting (NPPV Level 2) and Enhanced 

Disclosure and Barring Service checks (DBS). 

10.3. All staff must undertake the necessary accredited Public Space Security 

Industry Authority CCTV Training and become a licensed Public Space 

CCTV Operative under the Security Industry Authority requirements.   

Training will be provided by the Council. 

10.4. All employees are bound by a Confidentiality Agreement which is 

enforceable both during and after cessation of employment.   The Council 

also has a comprehensive Disciplinary Policy and Staff Code of Conduct, 

both of which are rigorously implemented.     

10.5. Staff are appropriately trained in Data Protection, Equality and Covert 

Surveillance in order to avoid any misappropriation of data or breach of an 

individual’s Human Rights. 

10.6. The Council has a robust staff supervision and appraisal system in place 

which supports compliance with all Council Policy and Procedure. 

 

Page 36



Boston Borough Council – CCTV Policy – Version 1.5, XXX 2019 

 11 

11. BREACHES OF THIS POLICY 

11.1. Responsibility for dealing with any breach of this Policy rests with the 

appropriate member of CMT. Any breach will be addressed using the 

relevant Council Policy and Procedure.  

11.2. Any loss or risk of loss to personal data must be reported to the statutory 

Data Protection Officer (DPO) as soon as practicable to allow the DPO to 

conduct a suitable investigation. 

 

12. CONTROL AND OPERATION OF CAMERAS 

12.1. Only staff with responsibility for using CCTV equipment shall access the 

systems operating controls (other than those under supervised training) 

12.2. All use of cameras and control equipment shall be in accordance with the 

purposes and primary objectives of this policy.   

 

13. ACCESS AND SECURITY OF CONTROL ROOM AND POLICE 

AIRWAVES 

13.1. Only those individuals with a legitimate reason to do so will be allowed 

access to the Council’s CCTV Control Room. 

13.2. Public access to the Control Room or the demonstration of equipment will 

be allowed subject to the primary objectives of the scheme and only upon 

authorisation from the operational manager or their superiors.   In these 

circumstances a log of visitors will be kept, logging the purpose of the visit, 

names of visitors, date and times of the control room visit. 

13.3. A licensed SIA operator will be present during the operation of the 

monitoring equipment.   If monitors are to be left unattended, the room must 

be secured against unauthorised entry.  The operation of the monitoring 

equipment shall be limited to staff with the correct authorisation, training and 

responsibility (other than those under supervised training). 

13.4. An Incident Management log shall be maintained to record operator 

activities and incidents witnessed.  In addition any visitor will be required to 

sign a Visitor Log detailing the purpose of the visit.  Duty Operators will also 

log the times of their period of duty (shift) at the start and end of each shift. 

13.5. The Incident Management log will be maintained on the basis of date and 

time of day throughout operations and include sufficient details of all 

incidents observed within the Control Room. 

Page 37



Boston Borough Council – CCTV Policy – Version 1.5, XXX 2019 

 12 

13.6. All systems must be fully maintained and any faults or defects reported 

appropriately according to the fault reporting procedure. 

13.7. The Owner will comply with the controls placed upon users of the Airwaves 

system.  This includes holding a TEA2 sub-license and NPPV Level 2 

vetting of control room staff. 

 

 

14. RECORDED MATERIAL AND STILL IMAGES 

14.1. All recorded material produced from the Council’s CCTV systems remain 

the property of the Council and are protected by copyright.  Recorded 

material is held for a maximum of 30 days unless retained for evidential or 

training purposes. 

14.2. Recorded material shall only be used for the purposes defined in the Policy. 

14.3. Access to recorded material will only take place as defined in this Policy, ie. 

by duly authorised officers. 

14.4. The release of recorded material to the public will only be allowed in 

accordance with the law.  Recorded material will only be used in accordance 

with the primary objectives as set out in this Policy and in accordance with 

the Data Protection Act.   

14.5. A Media Management log will be maintained giving the exact date and time 

of the production of each evidential package, the name of the person 

requesting the evidence and the reason for the request. 

14.6. Evidential packages will be signed over to an Authorised Body, with no 

Master Copies retained by BBC.  Evidential packages not collected by the 

requesting officer within six months will be destroyed. 

14.7. Before any copies are removed from the Control Room or other location, a 

log of the media transaction will be recorded and signed by a duly 

authorised officer and the Authorised Body.  By signing for the media, the 

Authorised Body accepts responsibility for the use, retention, secure storage 

and destruction of the evidential copies. 

14.8. Police may apply for access in accordance with an agreement made with 

the owner where the Police reasonably believe that access to specific 

recordings is necessary for the proper investigation and detection of a 

particular offence or offences or for the prevention of crime and disorder. 

14.9. Evidence provided to the Police shall at no time be used by the Police for 

anything other than the purpose specified and identified when the discs are 

Page 38



Boston Borough Council – CCTV Policy – Version 1.5, XXX 2019 

 13 

released to them by the Control Room. 

14.10. Third party access to CCTV images will be considered in accordance with 

the objectives of this policy.  Charges will be incurred to cover operational, 

administration and recording media costs.  Details of current charges can be 

found on the Boston Borough Council website. 

14.11. Access to recordings may be obtained in connection with civil disputes by 

Court Order or be extended to lawyers acting for defendants or victims in 

connection with criminal or civil proceedings. 

14.12. Insurance Companies may have access to recordings of incidents in 

connection to their enquiries (e.g.  road traffic collisions).  Details of current 

charges can be found on the Boston Borough Council website. 

14.13. No other access to data will be allowed unless approved by a duly 

authorised officer 

14.14. Still images should not be taken as a matter of routine.   The taking of each 

still image must be for justifiable reasons. 

14.15. All still images will remain the property of the owner.   A record will be kept 

of the reason for production of the photograph, date and time, the particulars 

of production, and information identifying the Control Room staff member 

responsible for producing the photograph. 

14.16. At no time should a still image be used for anything other than the purpose 

specified and identified when released to the Police or other body. 

14.17. Still images may be sent electronically via secure email to named officers. 

 

15. DEALING WITH INCIDENTS 

15.1. Locally agreed procedures provide for: 

 Referral to Police who will respond according to local agreement. 

 Compliance with local arrangements for reporting incidents or concerns. 

 Compliance with local arrangements for reporting matters to emergency 

services. 

 Referral to security staff according to local arrangements. 

 

16. POLICE CONTACT AND USE OF THE COUNCIL’S CCTV 

SYSTEMS 

Page 39



Boston Borough Council – CCTV Policy – Version 1.5, XXX 2019 

 14 

16.1. Access to any Council CCTV recordings and the Control Room must comply 

with the Policy and the time and date and purpose of such access will be 

recorded and monitored. 

16.2. All incidents and occurrences involving the Police will be recorded on the 

relevant CCTV System’s Incident Log. 

16.3. Use of any CCTV system by the Police must be in accordance with the 

Policy, any operations manual, and agreed protocols and should be subject 

to procedural safeguards and audit. 

16.4. The control of cameras and their monitoring is, unless covered by RIPA or 

other authorisation, the responsibility of duly authorised staff only.   The 

Police may request assistance in order to: 

 Assist with the deployment of resources. 

 Monitor potential public disorder or other major security situations. 

 Assist in the detection of crime. 

 Facilitate the apprehension and prosecution of offenders in relation to 

crime and public order. 

 Assist with the detection of moving traffic offences where it is 

considered that the public safety is at risk. 

16.5. In circumstances when problems are anticipated, arrangements may be 

made for a Police Officer to be present within the CCTV Control Centre or 

other CCTV system location for liaison purposes.   On each occasion a 

record must be made in the relevant system Incident Log. 

 

17. MAJOR INCIDENTS 

17.1. Use of the Council’s General Public Space CCTV System is integrated into 

the Council's Emergency Planning Procedures for major civil emergencies.  

If required, the Council’s Gold or Silver Commander can authorise the 

deployment of a Liaison Officer from the major civil emergencies team into 

the CCTV Control Centre.  The CCTV Operator will give assistance and 

technical advice as required in all matters concerning the deployment and 

use of the facilities within the CCTV Control Centre. 

 

18. COMPLAINTS 

18.1. Complaints regarding any aspect of any Council CCTV system should be 

Page 40



Boston Borough Council – CCTV Policy – Version 1.5, XXX 2019 

 15 

made through the Council’s Corporate Complaints Procedure.   

18.2. All investigations following a complaint will be carried out in full accordance 

with the policy. 

 

19. LEAD AND DULY AUTHORISED OFFICERS 

19.1. Recorded images are personal data under the Data Protection Act 1998.  

Boston Borough Council is the Data Controller for the purpose of the Act.  

The Lead Duly Authorised Officer for each system is set out at within 

APPENDIX 1 and is the Information Asset Owner.   Additional Duly 

Authorised Officers within each function are also identified within the 

Appendix. 

19.2. In addition to staff viewing live images, duly authorised officers with 

reasonable, justified and proportionate grounds can view recorded images 

in order to undertake audit checks, system checks and checks to ensure 

compliance with Council Policy and Procedure.     

19.3. Each Lead Officer will be responsible for maintaining and implementing 

appropriate Operating Protocols for their respective CCTV system and 

ensuring that Data Access/Incident Logs for each system are maintained.  

As members of the Management Group, Lead Officers will be supported by 

the full Management Group. 

19.4. Prior to any decision to procure additional cameras or new CCTV systems, 

a Privacy Impact Assessment must be undertaken to inform the decision 

making process. 

 

  

Page 41



Boston Borough Council – CCTV Policy – Version 1.5, XXX 2019 

 16 

20. APPENDIX 1: DULY AUTHORISED OFFICERS 

CCTV SYSTEM LEAD OFFICER 1 ADDITIONAL DULY 

AUTHORISED 

OFFICERS1 

BBC General Public 

Space CCTV System 

CCTV Manager* 

 

Community Safety 

Manager* 

CCTV Operators 

GMLC CCTV System Leisure Services 

Manager 

Community Safety 

Manager 

CCTV  Manager 

CCTV Operators 

St John’s Depot CCTV 

System 

Operations Manager Operations Supervisors, 

Assistant/Relief 

Supervisor and 

Operations Administrator. 

Boston Crematorium 

CCTV System 

Principal Officer, 

Bereavement and 

Cleaning 

Operations Supervisor - 

Bereavement and 

Cleansing 

Boston Guildhall CCTV 

System 

Principal Museum, Arts 

and Heritage Officer 

Collections Officer 

Municipal Buildings 

Customer Services CCTV 

System 

CCTV Manager* Community Safety 

Manager* 

CCTV Operators 

IT server Room CCTV 

System 

IT Manager IT Senior Operations 

Engineers 

IT Projects & 

Development Officer 

Operational Vehicles 

CCTV System 

Operations Manager Operations Supervisors, 

Assistant/Relief 

Page 42



Boston Borough Council – CCTV Policy – Version 1.5, XXX 2019 

 17 

Supervisor and 

Operations Administrator 

1 For the purpose of Authorisation, officers filling any of the posts within this table 

in an acting, interim or seconded capacity are also designated as Authorised 

Officers. 

*The Community Safety Manager and CCTV Manager, as Public Space SIA 

Licence Holders, are ‘Duly Authorised’ to access data held within any of the 

Council’s CCTV Systems where it is reasonable, justified and proportionate to do 

so.  The Head of Regulatory Services is the Council’s corporate lead and duly 

authorised Proper Officer for CCTV and Community Safety. 

 

21. APPENDIX 2 – POLICY REVISION HISTORY 

 

VERSION 

SERIALISATION 

REASON: EFFECTIVE 

FROM: 

AMENDED 

BY: 

POSITION 

AND DATE 

APPROVED 

BY: 

POSITION 

AND DATE 

PUBLISHED 

ON: 

1.0 Full review of 

Policy 

14 December 

2015 

Re-drafted 

by Head of 

Housing, 

Health and 

Communit

y Services 

Cabinet, 2 

December 

2015 

14 

December 

2015 

1.1 Annual Review 1 June 2017 Head of 

Housing, 

Health and 

Communit

y Services 

Cabinet, 

17 May 

2017 

1 June 

2017 

1.2 Addition of IT 

Server Room 

CCTV System 

at p.4 and 

Addition of 

Lead Officer 

and additional 

9 November 

2017 

CCTV 

Manager in 

consultatio

n with the 

Head of 

Housing, 

Health and 

CCTV 

Manager 

as a minor 

and 

inconsequ

ential 

change to 

9 

November 

2017 

Page 43



Boston Borough Council – CCTV Policy – Version 1.5, XXX 2019 

 18 

Duly 

Authorised 

Officers at 

p16. 

Communit

y Services 

policy as 

per para 

5.2. 

1.3 Addition of 

Assistant/Relie

f Supervisor 

and 

Operations 

Administrator 

at Appendix 1 

in respect of St 

john’s Depot 

CCTV System 

and 

Operational 

Vehicles 

CCTV System.  

Addition of 

Note1 at 

Appendix 1 -  1 

For the 

purpose of 

Authorisation, 

officers filling 

any of the 

posts within 

this table in an 

acting, interim 

or seconded 

capacity are 

also 

designated as 

Authorised 

Officers. 

21 November 

2017 

CCTV 

Manager in 

consultatio

n with the 

Head of 

Housing, 

Health and 

Communit

y Services 

CCTV 

Manager 

as a minor 

and 

inconsequ

ential 

change to 

policy as 

per para 

5.2. 

21 

November 

2017 

1.4 Annual Review June XXX Head of 

Housing, 

Health and 

Communit

y Services 

Cabinet 27 

June 2018 

9 July 

2018 

Page 44



Boston Borough Council – CCTV Policy – Version 1.5, XXX 2019 

 19 

1.5 Annual Review July XXX Head of 

Regulatory 

Services, 

Communit

y Safety 

Manager, 

CCTV 

Manager 

Cabinet 

XXX 

XXX 

      

      

      

      

 

 

22. REFERENCES AND USEFUL LINKS 

 

Data Protection Act, 2018 – (Link to be provided when available) 

Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act, 2000 - 

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2000/23/contents  

Protection of Freedoms Act, 2012 - 

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2012/9/contents/enacted  

‘Surveillance Camera Code of Practice’, Home Office, June 2013 - 

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/28277

4/SurveillanceCameraCodePractice.pdf  

‘In the picture: A data protection code of practice for surveillance cameras and 

personal information’, ICO, May 2015 - https://ico.org.uk/media/for-

organisations/documents/1542/cctv-code-of-practice.pdf  

Surveillance Camera Commissioner - 

https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/surveillance-camera-commissioner  

Page 45

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2000/23/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2012/9/contents/enacted
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/282774/SurveillanceCameraCodePractice.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/282774/SurveillanceCameraCodePractice.pdf
https://ico.org.uk/media/for-organisations/documents/1542/cctv-code-of-practice.pdf
https://ico.org.uk/media/for-organisations/documents/1542/cctv-code-of-practice.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/surveillance-camera-commissioner


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

 

REPORT TO:  Environment & Performance Committee 

DATE: 30th July 2019 

SUBJECT:  Crime & Disorder Annual Review/ASB/PSPO 
(Alcohol) Statistics 2018/19 

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: Councillor Paul Skinner 

REPORT AUTHOR: Ian Dunn – Anti-Social Behaviour Officer 

EXEMPT REPORT? No 

 

 

SUMMARY 
 

1. Anti-Social Behaviour Annual Update 
 
The Council’s Community Safety Team use National Legislation and County-
Wide Policies and Procedures when dealing with Anti-Social Behaviour 
(ASB). The team works alongside numerous partner agencies, particularly the 
Neighbourhood Policing Team based at Boston Police Station. 
 
The Council’s two ASB Officers widely utilise the powers contained within the 
Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime & Policing Act 2014 (see background papers 
for link to legislation), guided by the Safer Lincolnshire Partnership 
Strategy’s ‘Intervention and Incremental Approach Policy and Procedure 
2015’ when dealing with ASB and other non-criminal offences.  The approach 
normally has 4 stages. Statistics throughout this report have been provided 
against each stage for ASB enforcement and PSPO enforcement.   
 

 ASB enforcement statistics for the period 1st April 2018 – 31st March 
2019 and in comparison with the previous year, 1st April 2017 – 31st 
March 2018, are set out within Appendix 1, a summary is provided 
below: 

 
 
 

i. Stage1 ASB Advice Letter: 
 

 2018-19 - 85 letters issued 
 

 2017-18 – 77 letters issued 
ii. Stage 2 ASB Warning Letter:  

 

B   O   S   T   O   N 
  B O R O U G H  C O U N C I L  

 

 

 

Page 47

Agenda Item 4



 2018-19 - 22 letters issued  
 

 2017-18 – 25 letters issued 
 

iii. Stage 3 Acceptable Behaviour Agreement: 
 

 2018-19 - 1 ABA 
 

 2017-18 – 8 ABA’s 
 
iv. Stage 4 Civil Injunction: 

 

 2018-19 - 3 granted by the Court 
 

 2017-18 – 3 granted by the Court 
 

For over 18’s –  
 

 i.      Stage 3 CPNW – 12 Community Protection Notice Warnings 
 
ii.     Stage 4 CPN -  3 Community Protection Notices  
 

The procedure for over 18’s using CPNW’s commenced in 2018. Therefore, 
no comparison date for the previous year. 
  
The Public Space Protection Order (PSPO) for alcohol incremental approach 
also has four stages, PSPO enforcement statistics for the period 1st April 2018 
– 31st March 2019 and in comparison with the previous year, 1st April 2017 – 
31st March 2018 are set out within Appendix 2, a summary is provided below. 
 

v. Stage1 PSPO Advice Letter: 
 

 2018-19 – 141 letters issued 
 

 2017-18 – 130 letters issued 
 

vi. Stage 2 PSPO Warning Letter:  
 

 2018-19 - 20 letters issued  
 

 2017-18 – 4 letters issued 
 

 
 
 
 

vii. Stage 3 Community Protection Notice Warning (CPW): 
 

 2018-19 - 6 letters issued  

Page 48



 

 2017-18 – 2 letters issued 
 
viii. Stage 4 Community Protection Notice (CPN): 

  

 2018-19 - 1 letters issued  
 

 2017-18 – 0 letters issued 
 

Breach of PSPO (refused a request by an authorised officer to 
desist from drinking alcohol within the designated area or leave 
the area): 

 
Fixed Penalty Notice (FPN):  
 

 2018-19 - 0 FPN’s issued  
 

 2017-18 – 1 FPN issued 
 

FPNs can be used for breaching the Order. 
 

 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

 That members review, comment, and challenge the information 
presented within the report and its appendices. That the committee 
makes any recommendations to cabinet that it feels appropriate. 

 

 That members take up the offer from Inspector 123 Fran Harrod to 
shadow the Police on patrol to see what Policing in the town centre 
looks like. 

 
 

 

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

 To enable members to review, comment, and challenge the information 
presented.  

 

 To give members a better insight of how the Neighbourhood Policing 
team operates. 

 
 

 

 

 

 

Page 49



ALTERNATIVES CONSIDERED 
 
 None 
 
 

REPORT 
 
1 Background - ASB 
 
1.1  The Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 (the Act) 

commenced on 20 October 2014.  All of the powers set out within the 
Act, except Civil Injunctions, came into force on this date.   

 
1.2 The Act can be accessed at:  
 

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/12/contents/enacted 
  
1.3 As a partner to Safer Lincolnshire’s incremental policy approach to 

dealing with ASB, local authorities and the Police normally adopt a four 
stage process; however, one or more of the stages can be dispensed 
with depending on the severity of the ASB to hand.  

 

 Stage 1 is normally an ASB Advice letter, generated by the Police or 
local authority and issued by the local authority. This can be delivered 
by a Police Community Support Officer (PCSO) or a Council ASB 
Officer to the perpetrators home address. This is usually issued to first 
time ASB perpetrators. 

 

 Stage 2 is normally an ASB Warning Letter, again this is generated by 
the Police or local authority. A Stage 2 is normally given to second time 
ASB offenders within a 6 month period, or given for more serious 
offences of ASB. This is normally delivered by a Police officer to the 
perpetrators home address. 

 

 Stage 3 for under 18’s is normally an Acceptable Behaviour Agreement 
(ABA). The perpetrator is invited in (with their parent/guardian) to 
discuss their behaviour with a council ASB Officer and a Police Officer, 
normally the ASB Police Co-ordinator for Boston. An ABA is a 
voluntary agreement that the perpetrator can agree to sign. ABA’s have 
a number of conditions that perpetrators are asked to agree to help 
stop their ASB. The agreement normally lasts for six months and is 
reviewed every six weeks. Perpetrators can be offered support 
mechanisms from a range of organisations including but not being 
limited to the Early Help Team, Youth Offending Service or Addaction. 
The additional support is usually voluntary but can help the young 
people and families manage behaviour. 
For adults it is a Community Protection Notice Warning Letter (CPNW) 
which can also be generated by the Police or local authority. A CPNW 
can be used against an individual or a business if their behaviour or 
actions are having a detrimental effect on the local community. 

Page 50

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/12/contents/enacted


 

 Stage 4 normally involves seeking a Civil Injunction for U18’s. If all 
previous steps have failed and the perpetrator continues to commit 
ASB, a court file is prepared by the ASB Officer, approved by senior 
officers in accordance with the Council’s Scheme of Delegation and 
referred to Lincolnshire County Council’s Legal Services Team. Cases 
are presented to a Court that makes any ruling it considers appropriate.  
A Civil Injunction can be granted for up to a year for anyone up to the 
age of 18 with anyone over 18 facing anything up to an indefinite 
Order. Injunctive conditions are sought following discussion at an Anti-
Social Behaviour Risk Assessment Conference (ASBRAC*) and the 
Youth Offending Service.  Conditions sought are designed to support 
and deter the person from committing further ASB and usually include 
a curfew, an agreement to not involve themselves in ASB, specification 
of ‘no go’ areas and a ‘non-association with other people’ requirement 
whom have been identified in ASB alongside them. When dealing with 
serious ASB of a persistent nature, a power of arrest can also be 
applied for. 
 
A Community Protection Notice (CPN) is used for anyone 18 and over 
who have breached the conditions of their CPNW and can be for an 
indefinite period of time or until the requested conditions have been 
complied with. These are also used for individual perpetrators or 
businesses if their behaviour or actions continue following a CPNW 
and they have a detrimental effect on the local community.  
 
For breaches of CPN’s the Police or local authority may seek to get a 
Criminal Behaviour Order (CBO) against the person or local business. 
The conditions will often mirror those of the CPN and any breach of the 
order is a criminal offence. A CBO can be made for an indefinite period 
of time. 

 
*ASBRAC is attended by Local Authority, Police, Fire & Rescue, 
Housing Associations, Addaction, Framework, P3, Early Help & the 
Youth Offending Service. 

 
1.4  ASB enforcement statistics for the period 1st April 2018 – 31st March 

2019 are set out within Appendix 1. 
 
2  Public Space Protection Order (PSPO) (Alcohol) 
 
2.1 BBC’s Public Space Protection Order (in relation to Alcohol) 

commenced on Monday 12th January 2015 and has been extended 
until 11th January 2021.  The effect of the Order is to prohibit the 
consumption of alcohol within the PSPO area and to require specified 
things to be done by person/s consuming alcohol in that area.   

 
The Order applies to all persons within the area, whether resident or 
otherwise, at all times. Pursuant to section 63 of the Act, where a 
Police Officer, Community Support Officer or other Authorised Person 

Page 51



requires that a person desists from consuming alcohol (or the item 
reasonably believed to be alcohol), or surrender the alcohol (or item 
which is reasonably believed to be alcohol) and the person fails to do 
so, that person shall be committing an offence.  
 
A person who fails, without reasonable excuse to comply with a 
requirement imposed on him or her by a Police Officer, Community 
Support Officer or other Authorised Person commits an offence and is 
liable; i. - on summary conviction to a fine not exceeding £500; ii. - to a 
fixed penalty notice not exceeding £100 (if the fixed penalty has not 
been paid within 14 days following the date of the notice, that person 
may be convicted of an offence as set out at point i above).  
 
A Police Officer, Community Support Officer or other Authorised 
Person may dispose of anything surrendered pursuant to the Order as 
they see fit’.  

 
2.2 The process of enforcing the PSPO is very similar to the incremental 

approach used when dealing with other forms of ASB: 
 

 Stage 1 is a PSPO Advice letter, triggered by the Police and posted to 
the perpetrator by the Council’s ASB Officer. This is usually issued to 
first time PSPO perpetrators. 
 

 Stage 2 is a PSPO Warning Letter, again this is triggered by the Police. 
This is given to second time PSPO offenders within a 6 month period. 
This is normally delivered by the Police to the perpetrators home 
address. 
 

 Stage 3 is a Community Protection Warning Letter (CPW). The CPW is 
generated by the Council following a report from the Police that 
determines a perpetrator has been asked to surrender alcohol for a 
third time. The CPW is served by a Council ASB officer and signed by 
the perpetrator. 
 

 Stage 4 is a Community Protection Notice (CPN). The CPN is 
generated by the Council following a report from the Police that 
determines a perpetrator has been asked to surrender alcohol for a 
fourth time and is in breach of their CPW. The CPN is served by a 
Council ASB officer and signed by the perpetrator. 

 
2.3 A Fixed Penalty Notice may be issued when a perpetrator refuses or 

desists from drinking alcohol, or any liquid considered to be alcohol, 
fails to hand over alcohol, or any liquid considered to be alcohol when 
instructed to by an authorised officer, or fails leave the designated zone 
when requested to do so by an authorised officer. The FPN is hand 
served by a Council ASB Officer. 
 

Page 52



2.4 PSPO enforcement statistics for the period 1st April 2018 – 31st March 
2019 are set out within Appendix 2.  Of particular note in respect of 
PSPO enforcement is that only 20 PSPO Warning Letters were served 
as a consequence of the 141 Advice Letters.  Whilst Warning Letters 
could be served post March 2019 for repeat offences, the significant 
majority of those subject to warnings heed them accordingly. 
 

2.5 The Community Safety Team have spoken with the outgoing and 
recent incoming Neighbourhood Police Team Inspectors regarding the  
lack of referrals in quarter 4. See appendix 3. 

 
 
 
3  CONCLUSION 
 
3.1  Whilst the statistics set out within Appendices 1 and 2 provide 

members with volume metrics, what they do not demonstrate is the 
breadth of issues and the variable time that cases can take to bring to 
satisfactory conclusions, officers will be in attendance at the meeting to 
answer questions from the Committee and can talk through examples if 
requested to do so. 
 

 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
There are no financial implications associated with receiving this report. 
 

 
 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
There are no legal implications associated with receiving this report. 
 

 
 

ANY OTHER IMPLICATIONS 
 
None 
 

 
 

APPENDICES 
 
Appendices are listed below and attached to the back of the report: - 
 

APPENDIX 1 ASB Report 2018/19 

APPENDIX 2 PSPO Report 2018/19 

APPENDIX 3 Email response from Inspector 123 Fran Harrod 
 

Page 53



 
(This section should be used to outline what consultation has been 
undertaken and provide an overview of the feedback received.  If no  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
No background papers as defined in Section 100D of the Local Government 
Act 1972 were used in the production of this report. 
 

Document title Where the document can be viewed 
 

Anti-social Behaviour, Crime 
and Policing Act 2014:  
Reform of anti-social 
behaviour powers 
Statutory guidance for frontline 
professionals 

www.legislation.gov.uk 

 
 
 

CHRONOLOGICAL HISTORY OF THIS REPORT 
 

 
This report has not previously been considered by another Council 
Committee. 
 

 
 
 
 
  

CONSULTATION 
 

Statutory Crime & Disorder Annual Review 
 
Madam Chairman’s briefing, held on 15th July, with regard to the draft 
papers for the committee meeting being held on 30th July.  
 
Madam Chairman asked a question with regards to the PSPO (Alcohol) 
Stats (Appendix 2 of this report) requesting that the Police be questioned 
on why there has been no referral requests from the Police for the PSPO 
(Alcohol) letters to be issued since November 2018. 
 
Appendix 3 – Email response from Inspector 123 Fran Harrod (Boston 
Neighbourhood Police Team) to the question raised above including an 
invitation from Inspector Harrod offering any elected member a chance to 
go on patrol with the Police to see what Policing in the town centre looks 
like. 
 
If any member would like to take up the offer from Inspector Harrod please 
contact a member of the Community Safety team directly and we can 
organise this your behalf. 
 

Page 54

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/


Appendix 1 - Anti-Social Behaviour Stats –  1st April 2018 – 31st March 
2019 
 
April 2018 
ASB Advice: 3 
ASB Warning: 3 
ABA: 1 
CPNW:1 
CPN: 0 
Civil Injunction: 2 
 

 

May  2018 
ASB Advice: 10 
ASB Warning: 0 
ABA: 0 
CPNW:1 
CPN: 0 
Civil Injunction: 0 
 

 

June 2018 
ASB Advice: 6 
ASB Warning: 0 
ABA: 0 
CPNW:1 
CPN: 0 
Civil Injunction: 1 

 

July 2018 
ASB Advice: 2 
ASB Warning: 2 
ABA: 0 
CPNW:2 
CPN: 0 
Civil Injunction: 0 
 

 

August 2018 
ASB Advice: 2 
ASB Warning: 2 
ABA: 0 
CPNW:3 
CPN: 0 
Civil Injunction: 0 
 

 

September 2018 
ASB Advice: 15 
ASB Warning: 8 
ABA: 0 
CPNW: 0 
CPN: 0 
Civil Injunction: 0 
 

 
October 2018 
ASB Advice: 14 
ASB Warning: 0 
ABA: 1 offered (refused) 
CPNW:2 
CPN: 0 
Civil Injunction: 0 
 

 

November 2018 
ASB Advice: 3 
ASB Warning: 1  
ABA: 0 
CPNW: 0 
CPN: 0 
Civil Injunction: 0 
 

 

December 2018 
ASB Advice: 5 
ASB Warning: 0 
ABA: 0 
CPNW: 0  
CPN:0 
Civil Injunction: 0 
 

 
January 2019 
ASB Advice: 8 
ASB Warning: 3 
ABA: 0 
CPNW:2 
CPN: 3 
Civil Injunction: 0 
 

 

February 2019 
ASB Advice: 1 
ASB Warning: 1 
ABA: 0 
CPNW: 0  
CPN: 0 
Civil Injunction: 0 
 

 

March 2019 
ASB Advice: 16 
ASB Warning: 2 
ABA: 0 
CPNW: 0 
CPN: 0 
Civil Injunction: 0 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Totals: 
ASB Advice: 85 
ASB Warning: 22 
ABA: 1 
CPNW : 14 
CPN: 3 
Civil Injunction: 3  
 

Page 55



 

Anti-Social Behaviour Stats –  1st April 2017 – 31st March 2018  

 

April 2017 
ASB Advice: 3 
ASB Warning: 0 
ABA: 1 
Civil Injunction: 0 
 
 

May  2017 
ASB Advice: 0 
ASB Warning: 1 
ABA: 0 
Civil Injunction: 0 
 
 

June 2017 
ASB Advice: 14 
ASB Warning: 7 
ABA: 1 
Civil Injunction: 0 
 
 

July 2017 
ASB Advice: 1 
ASB Warning: 6 
ABA: 0 
Civil Injunction: 0 
 
 

August 2017 
ASB Advice: 0 
ASB Warning: 0 
ABA: 0 
Civil Injunction: 0 
 
 

September 2017 
ASB Advice: 10 
ASB Warning: 1 
ABA: 5 
Civil Injunction: 1 
 
 

October 2017 
ASB Advice: 5 
ASB Warning: 1 
ABA: 1 
Civil Injunction: 0 
 
 

November 2017 
ASB Advice: 12 
ASB Warning: 2  
ABA: 1 
Civil Injunction: 0 
 
 

December 2017 
ASB Advice: 7 
ASB Warning: 0 
ABA: 0 
Civil Injunction: 1 
 
 

January 2018 
ASB Advice: 8 
ASB Warning:  4 
ABA: 0 
Civil Injunction: 1 
 
 

February 2018 
ASB Advice: 7 
ASB Warning: 1 
ABA: 0 
Civil Injunction: 0 
 
 

March 2018 
ASB Advice: 10 
ASB Warning: 2 
ABA: 0 
Civil Injunction: 0 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Totals: 
ASB Advice: 77 
ASB Warning: 25 
ABA: 8 
Civil Injunction: 3 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 56



 
 

 

0 

2 

4 

6 

8 

10 

12 

14 

16 

18 
N

u
m

b
e

r 
Is

s
u

e
d

 

Month 

Anti-Social Behaviour Stats - 1/4/2017  - 31/3/2019  

Stage 1 Advise Stage 2 Advise ABA CPNW CPN Civil Injunction 

P
age 57



 

 

 

0 

10 

20 

30 

40 

50 

60 

70 

80 

90 

Stage 1 Advise Stage 2 Advise ABA CPNW CPN Civil Injunction 

N
u

m
b

e
r 

Is
su

ed
 

Stage Of Enforcement 

Anti-Social Behaviour Stats - 17/18 Vs 18/19 

2017/18 2018/19 

P
age 58



Appendix 2 - Public Space Protection Order (Alcohol) –  1st April 2018 – 31st 

March 2019 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

April 2018 
PSPO Advice: 4 
PSPO Warning: 0 
CPW: 0 
CPN: 0 
FPN:0 
 

May  2018 
PSPO Advice: 0 
PSPO Warning: 0  
CPW: 0 
CPN: 0 
FPN:0 
 

June 2018 
PSPO Advice: 35 
PSPO Warning: 3 
CPW:  0 
CPN: 0 
FPN:0 
 

July 2018 
PSPO Advice: 35 
PSPO Warning: 0 
CPW:  0 
CPN: 0 
FPN:0 
 

August 2018 
PSPO Advice: 38 
PSPO Warning: 8 
CPW:  5 
CPN: 1 
FPN:0 
 

September 2018 
PSPO Advice: 23 
PSPO Warning: 8 
CPW:  0 
CPN: 0 
FPN:0 
 

February 2019 
PSPO Advice: 0 
PSPO Warning: 0 
CPW:  0 
CPN: 0 
FPN:0 
 

January 2019 
PSPO Advice: 0 
PSPO Warning: 0 
CPW: 0 
CPN: 0 
FPN:0 
 

December 2018 
PSPO Advice: 0 
PSPO Warning: 0 
CPW:  0 
CPN: 0 
FPN:0 
 

November 2018 
PSPO Advice: 2 
PSPO Warning: 1 
CPW:  0 
CPN: 0 
FPN:0 
 

October 2018 
PSPO Advice: 4 
PSPO Warning: 0 
CPW:  1 
CPN: 0 
FPN:0 
 

March 2019 
PSPO Advice: 0 
PSPO Warning: 0 
CPW:  0 
CPN: 0 
FPN:0 

Totals: 
PSPO Advice: 141 
PSPO Warning: 20 
CPW: 6 
CPN: 1 
FPN: 0 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 59



 

Public Space Protection Order –  1st April 2017 – 31st March 2018  
 
 
April 2017 
PSPO Advice: 15 
PSPO Warning: 0 
CPW: 0 
CPN: 0 
FPN:0 

 

May  2017 
PSPO Advice: 7 
PSPO Warning: 0  
CPW: 1  
CPN: 0 
FPN:0 

 

June 2017 
PSPO Advice: 16 
PSPO Warning: 0 
CPW:  0 
CPN: 0 
FPN:0 

 
July 2017 
PSPO Advice: 17 
PSPO Warning: 0 
CPW:  1 
CPN: 0 
FPN:0 

 

August 2017 
PSPO Advice: 10 
PSPO Warning: 0 
CPW:  0 
CPN: 0 
FPN:0 

 

September 2017 
PSPO Advice: 12 
PSPO Warning: 2 
CPW:  0 
CPN: 0 
FPN:0 

 
October 2017 
PSPO Advice: 12 
PSPO Warning: 0 
CPW:  0 
CPN: 0 
FPN:0 
 

 

November 2017 
PSPO Advice: 5 
PSPO Warning: 1 
CPW:  0 
CPN: 0 
FPN:0 
 

 

December 2017 
PSPO Advice: 8 
PSPO Warning: 0 
CPW:  0 
CPN: 0 
FPN:0 
 

 
January 2018 
PSPO Advice: 13 
PSPO Warning: 0 
CPW: 0 
CPN: 0 
FPN:0 
 

 

February 2018 
PSPO Advice: 3 
PSPO Warning: 0 
CPW:  0 
CPN: 0 
FPN:0 
 

 

March 2018 
PSPO Advice: 12 
PSPO Warning: 1 
CPW:  0 
CPN: 0 
FPN:1 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Totals: 
PSPO Advice: 130 
PSPO Warning: 4 
CPW: 2  
CPN: 0 
FPN: 1 

Page 60



  

0 

5 

10 

15 

20 

25 

30 

35 

40 

N
u

m
b

er
 Is

su
ed

 

Month 

PSPO Stats - 1/4/2017  - 31/3/2019   

PSPO Advise PSPO Warning CPNW CPN FPN 

P
age 61



0 

20 

40 

60 

80 

100 

120 

140 

160 

PSPO Advise PSPO Warning CPNW CPN FPN 

N
u

m
b

e
r 

Is
su

e
d

 

Stage of Enforcement 

PSPO Stats - 17/18 Vs 18/19 

2017/18 2018/19 

P
age 62



Appendix 3 – Email response from Inspector 123 Fran Harrod 
 
From: Harrod, Francesca <francesca.harrod@lincs.pnn.police.uk>  
Sent: 17 July 2019 16:22 
To: Peter Hunn <Peter.Hunn@boston.gov.uk>; Ian Dunn 
<Ian.Dunn@boston.gov.uk> 
Cc: Robinson, David <David.Robinson@lincs.pnn.police.uk>; Dickinson, 
Matthew <Matthew.Dickinson@lincs.pnn.police.uk> 
Subject: FW: ASB / PSPO Annual Review  
 
Hi Pete, 
 
Thank you for the report, I have read it and considered Appendix 2.  The 
question that stands out to me is subtly different, i.e., why where the amount 
of referrals in June, July, August and September so high, and for the months 
before and after it, so low. 
 
For the benefit of the chair (as I know you personally are well aware) at the 
end of May 2019 I took on the role as Boston Neighbourhood Policing 
Inspector on the secondment of the substantive post holder, Insp. Andy 
Morrice to the Home Office.  Prior to this appointment I had a 3 year ‘break’ 
working a response shift as Inspector, but had previously been both PC and 
Sgt on Boston neighbourhood policing team.  Thus I am in a fortunate position 
knowing the broad history behind the issue and the joint work undertaken 
since 2009, when I joined the dept. 
 
This said, I am therefore not personally versed in the detail of work 
undertaken during this reporting period.  As such I have contacted Andy with 
the same question, who tells me that during the summer months last year 
PCSOS Brahmbhatt and Holland had a real purge, and I believe we have 
reaped rewards from this. 
 
I have interrogated our incident recording system (NSPIS) and found that 
thus far in 2019 there have been 11 incidents reported to police by the 
public about street drinking.  I have gone further, and looked under the 
general code for drunken behaviour to see if any more were hidden amongst 
what is a significantly broader heading.  There were 6.  A typical day might 
see up to c. 100 calls for service in our area, thus it makes up a very small 
proportion of what the public are reporting to us.  Effective reporting gives us 
the ability to effectively target our resources.  This comes with the caveat that 
there is no retrospective power to deal with a street drinker.  We must catch 
them in the act; often by the time the officer walks from one side of the town to 
the other to attend the report, they have finished up and moved on. 
 
I have spoken with those walking the beat, all day, every day.  They tell me 
that when they encounter a street drinker through their own proactivity (as 
opposed to being sent to a report called in by the public), they have, with very 
few exceptions, found that person to be homeless.  Thus referring them for 
warning letters etc. is not viable or appropriate.  They and our Community 
Cohesion Officer have conducted a significant amount of work referring these 

Page 63



people on for help, and in many cases empowering people (where they wish 
too, and are not British) to go home.  We are currently have a homeless 
Romanian man with drink and mental health issues about to take advantage 
of this, albeit he appears to have sorted himself out and we have not seen him 
on the streets in the last two weeks. 
 
Since my return to the team I have not found a street drinker in my own 
patrols of the town centre, making that my specific objective on a number of 
occasions.  I am not saying that street drinking is completely eradicated, as 
clearly it does still happen, and probably always will to some degree.  
However, we have come a very long way indeed from when powers were first 
granted to address the issue.   
 
I would very much like to offer any elected member the opportunity to 
come out with us on patrol, and see what policing in the town centre (or 
indeed any other part of the borough) looks like.  This can easily be facilitated 
through the Ride Along scheme and candidates only need to fill out a simple 
vetting form prior.  Previous Cllrs Raven and Ransome have done so, and 
found it of great benefit.  It gives a useful perspective on what policing the 
town is truly like (warts and all, it is a normal working day and not sanitised for 
anyone’s benefit).  Elected members can then build upon this knowledge and 
offer informed solutions to their constituent’s as they problem solve in their 
wards. 
 
I return from leave on 5th August; please let me know how the meeting went – 
I am very sorry to miss it. 
 
Regards, 
Fran. 
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
From: Peter Hunn [mailto:Peter.Hunn@boston.gov.uk]  
Sent: 16 July 2019 09:38 
To: Harrod, Francesca 
Subject: ASB / PSPO Annual Review  

 
Good Morning Fran, 
 
It was Madam Chairman’s (Judith Skinners) briefing last night with regard to 
the Environment & Performance Committee being held on the 30th July. 
 
The only question at this stage which has come out from the Chair’s briefing is 
with regard to the PSPO (Alcohol) Stats, please see the graph at Appendix 2 
of the report. The question to the police from the committee chair is; “Why has 
there been no referrals / requests from the police for PSPO Letters to be 
issued from November 2018 up to now?”  
 
Is this something you are able to answer before you go on leave please?  
 
Regards 
Pete  

Page 64

mailto:Peter.Hunn@boston.gov.uk


 

 

 

 

 

 

 

REPORT TO: ENVIRONMENT AND PERFORMANCE COMMITTEE  

DATE: 30 JULY 2019 

SUBJECT: BOSTON ALTERNATIVE ENERGY FACILITY 
CONSULTATION SUBMISSION 

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: COUNCILLOR YVONNE STEVENS  

REPORT AUTHOR: DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

EXEMPT REPORT NO 

 

 
SUMMARY 
 
The Council is a consultee in the planning process to determine if the proposed 
Boston Alternative Energy Facility is approved. As a National Significant 
Infrastructure Project, the application is determined by the Secretary of State 
following a Planning Inquiry headed up by a Planning Inspector. 
 
The proposal is a state-of-the-art power-generation plant, which the developers 
present as leading the way in land-based renewable power across the UK. 
 
This project will generate 102MW of renewable energy, of which 80MW will be 
exported to the National Grid and the rest will be used by the facility. Electricity will 
be generated in a secure, clean and affordable way. 
 
This project creates the potential for significant economic development opportunities 
linked to the supply chain to support the plant and potential end users of the by-
products. In addition, the proposals create opportunities for the Borough Council to 
work with the County Council through the Strategic Waste Partnership to consider 
alternative ways to manage waste. However, there are many planning and 
environmental health factors to consider having regard to the nature of the proposals. 
 
 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
Delegate to the Deputy Chief Executive, in consultation with the Leader and 
Portfolio Holders for Economic Development and Environment, to finalise the 
consultation submission. 
 
 

 

B   O   S   T   O   N 
  B O R O U G H  C O U N C I L  

 

 

 

Page 65

Agenda Item 5



 

 

 

 
REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION 
 
The Borough Council continues to liaise with the agent of the applicant to seek further 
clarification and understanding of the proposals, whilst officers continue to work with 
the County Council to consider the impact of the proposed development balanced 
with opportunity that the scheme would bring to the Borough, which will influence the 
final submission, at this stage required by the 6th August 2019. 
 
 

 

 
ALTERNATIVES CONSIDERED 
 
As set out in the body of the report. 
 
 

 

REPORT 
 

1.0  Introduction 
 
1.1 The Boston Alternative Energy Facility is a state-of-the-art power generation 
 plant that will generate 102 MW (gross) of renewable energy that will deliver 
 approximately 80 MW (net) to the National Grid. The energy recovery plant will 
 be a gasification facility. This cutting-edge technology contributes to the UK 
 Government’s target of generating at least 15% of energy from renewable 
 sources, including energy from waste, by 2020. The facility is considered to be 
 an Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) development for the purposes of 
 the ‘The Infrastructure Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) 
 Regulations 2017’ (the EIA Regulations). 
 
1.2 The energy recovery plant will process one million tonnes of refuse-derived 
 fuel (RDF) as the feedstock (i.e. the fuel) to generate energy. The RDF will 
 be sourced from UK suppliers and will comprise residual waste (i.e. ‘black  bag 
 waste’) from householders that has not been segregated for recycling. 
 Therefore, the facility will not use any source-segregated waste that can be 
 recycled. 
 
1.3 The proposed facility is a Nationally Significant Infrastructure Project (NSIP) 
 because it will have a generation capacity over 50 MW of energy. This means 
 it requires a Development Consent Order (DCO) under the Planning Act 2008. 
 The DCO application will be submitted to the Planning Inspectorate (PINS), 
 who will determine the application on behalf of the Secretary of State. The 
 Boston Alternative Energy Facility is currently in the pre-application stage of 
 the DCO process. 
 
1.4 The project is at a stage where the Environmental Statement (ES) has been 
 prepared, which provides a summary of the project, the site selection process 
 and key preliminary findings of the Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA). 

Page 66



 

 

 
2.0 The Proposed Development  
 

2.1 The proposed facility is to be located at the Riverside Industrial Estate, 
 Boston, Lincolnshire adjacent to the tidal River Witham (known as The Haven) 
 and down river from the Port of Boston. 
 
2.2 The facility is a power generation plant that will generate 102 MW (gross) of 
 renewable energy that will deliver approximately 80 MW (net) to the National 
 Grid. 
 
2.3 The RDF sent to the facility will be used to generate energy. The process for 

generating power is called gasification. 
 
2.4 The facility will comprise the following main elements: 
 

 Wharf and associated infrastructure (including re-baling facility, 
 workshop, transformer pen and welfare facilities); 
 

 RDF bale storage areas, including sealed drainage with mobile plant 
 for transferring bales; 
 

 Conveyor system between the RDF storage area and the RDF 
 processing building part of which is open and part of which is under 
 cover (including thermal cameras); 
 

 RDF processing building and associated infrastructure (including 
 photovoltaic roof panels, conveyor system to storage silos, ‘fines’ de-
 stoning plant, water tanks and transformer pen); 
 

 Processed RDF storage silos and ‘metered’ conveyor system into the 
 gasification plant and liquid nitrogen silos; 
 

 Gasification plant comprising three separate 34 MW gasification lines 
 and associated ductwork  and piping, transformer pens, diesel 
 generators and stack; 
 

 Turbine plant comprising three steam turbine engines, make-up water f
 acility and associated piping and ductwork; 
 

 Air-cooled condenser structure, transformer pen and associated piping 
 and ductwork; 
 

 Lightweight Aggregate (LWA) manufacturing plant comprising four kiln 
 lines, two filter banks with stacks, storage silos, a dedicated berthing 
 point at the wharf, silt storage and drainage facility, clay storage and 
 drainage facility, LWA workshop, interceptor tank, LWA control room, 
 aggregate storage facility and plant for loading aggregate / offloading 
 clay and silt; 
 

Page 67



 

 

 Electrical export infrastructure; 
 

 Carbon dioxide (CO2) recovery plant and associated infrastructure, 
 including chiller unit; and 
 

 Associated site infrastructure, including site roads, pedestrian routes, 
 car parking, site workshops and storage, security gate, control room 
 with visitor centre and site weighbridge. 

 

3.0 Project Need 
 

3.1 The need that exists for new power generating infrastructure, such as the 
 proposed Boston Alternative Energy Facility is confirmed in National Policy 
 Statements (NPS). These NPSs are used by the Secretary of State to make 
 decisions on nationally significant energy infrastructure like this facility. 
 
3.2 The relevant NPSs (EN-1 and EN-3) establish an urgent and substantial need 
 for new energy generation infrastructure, with the desire for it to be renewable 
 or low carbon to achieve climate change targets. 
 
3.3 There were many reasons for choosing gasification as the technology process 
 for the facility including economies of scale; diversion of waste from landfill 
 and abroad and the potential for carbon dioxide capture for reuse. 
 
3.4 The applicants are mindful of the current waste situation in respect of UK 
 waste being treated overseas, the impact of the restriction of waste exports
 into far eastern countries and dwindling UK landfill capacity. These factors 
 were key drivers for the applicant to seek to capture exported or landfilled 
 RDF, and to develop the cleanest, most efficient plant possible. 
 
4.0 Site Selection 
 

4.1 The facility is considered appropriate as the location is identified as 
appropriate in the Lincolnshire County Council’s Minerals and Waste Local 
Plan as well as having other local planning policy support. 

 
4.2 Other reasons 
 

 The location is directly adjacent to a navigable watercourse that 
 provides a means of delivery of RDF and export of materials, which 
 significantly reduces the amount of road vehicle trips; 
 

 There is sufficient footprint to accommodate the required plant and 
 equipment for the facility; 
 

 It is considered technically feasible to connect to the electricity 
 distribution network on site; 
 

 The site is not directly situated within any environmental designation. It 
 is within a flood zone, however it benefits from flood defences; and 

Page 68



 

 

 

 It is located within an existing urban/industrialised environment, with an 
 existing biomass gasification plant located next door. 

 
5.0 Proposed Construction and Use of the Facility 
 
5.1 The overall construction period will be at worst case 48 months from 2021 to 
 2025 and it is expected that there will be between 250-300 construction jobs
 at peak construction. Construction is expected to take place six days a week 
 (Monday to Saturday) between the times of 8am to 8pm, with options to work 
 7am to 7pm, with no work taking place on bank holidays or public holidays. 
 
5.2 Details of construction phasing and proposed construction methods are in the 
 process of being developed and no further details are available at this point in 
 time.  
 
5.3 Both the County Council and the Borough Council are seeking further 
 information as this is pertinent to the consultation responses. 
 
6.0 The Wharf 
 
6.1 The wharf will be built, replacing sections on the current flood defence bank 
 and will comprise the quay wall, the main area of the wharf, which will also 
 provide the flood defence line, and an area behind the wharf for associated 
 infrastructure. The wharf facility will include a berthing pocket to allow ships to 
 safely dock at the wharf without restricting the navigable channel of The 
 Haven. The birthing pocket will be constructed by dredging and excavating the 
 mud flats and land edge using land based equipment.  
 
6.2 Arriving vessels must navigate up The Haven to the proposed birth over high 
 tide and leave over the next high tide. The river is not wide enough to turn a 
 vessel at the proposed wharf. It is anticipated that vessels will be turned at the 
 Port of Boston, either at the ‘Knuckle’ point-turning circle outside the Wet Dock 
 or within the Wet Dock.  
 
6.3 The wharf will comprise a 400-metre long docking facility, loading and 
 offloading equipment and access / egress ramp. The wharf will have two births 
 for receiving the RDF feedstock, and one birth for loading aggregate and 
 receiving sediment and clay (which are required for the LWA plant). 
 
6.4 Approximately 624 ships per year will be required, which represents 11 per 
 week. 
 
7.0 The RDF Storage and Preparation 
 
7.1 Six silos would be constructed and following their construction, the RDF 
 storage and processing plant would be constructed. 
 
7.2 The facility will receive up to approximately 1,300,000 tonnes of RDF per 
 year, which is to be shipped in plastic wrapped bales. The RDF will comprise 

Page 69



 

 

 of residual waste collections from householders. The bales will be labelled to 
 identify the source of the RDF and location and date of baling. The material 
 will be sent to the facility from ports most likely located on the East coast of 
 the UK. The bales will be brick-shaped and have and anticipated volume of 
 1.85 m3, weighing approx. 1.3 to 1.5 tonnes. 
 
7.3 Once the RDF feedstock has been offloaded from the vessels, it is moved to a 

temporary storage area. The storage area will be in the open and will 
accommodate approximately four to five days-worth of RDF  (approximately 
12,600 tonnes), based on the rate of daily flow of processed  feedstock 
through the gasification facility. 

 
7.4 It is anticipated that 20% of the RDF material is not suitable for gasification 
 (such as metal, stones, glass). This will segregated out in the RDF feedstock 
 processing building, leaving 1,000,000 tonnes of processed RDF that is 
 suitable to generate energy. 
 
7.5 The RDF processing building will operate in a closed environment using odour 
 control measures to ensure no unacceptable odour is released. 
 
7.6 Ferrous and non-ferrous metals will be removed, collected in separate skips 
 and sent for processing off-site. 
 
7.7 Medium and heavy inert metals such as stones and glass will also be 
 removed. Some of this material is suitable for processing in the lightweight 
 aggregate plant and the remainder is to be sent off-site for recycling. 
 
7.8 The process RDF will be transferred via sealed conveyor to the storage silos. 
 There are to be six in total and each capable of storing 48,000m3 of processed 
 RDF. The RDF is transferred from the silos to the gasification plant in metered
 quantities. 
 
8.0 The Gasification Plant 
 
8.1 A total of three gasifiers are to be constructed in three phases with the 
 western most being the first (Line 1), then the eastern most (Line 3) and then 
 Line 2. 
 
8.2 Gasification is a method of generating energy. It does not involve direct 

combustion of the processed RDF; hence the facility is not a traditional 
incinerator. 

 
8.3 In the gasification zone; the processed RDF will be broken down in a hot 
 (approximately 800 degree C) environment which has limited oxygen, and
 prevents the processed RDF from combusting (burning). Instead, the 
 processed RDF is converted into a gas. 
 
8.4 The gas then flows to a hotter part of the plant called the thermal oxidation 

zone, at which point more air is injected that causes the gas to ignite. In the 

Page 70



 

 

thermal oxidation zone the temperature of the gas is over 950 degree C, which 
causes potential contaminants to break down. 

 
8.5 The hot gas is sent to the boiler section of the plant for heat recovery where 
 steam is generated. The steam is routed to the turbines to generate power. 
 
8.6 The cooled exhaust gas goes to the pollution control system where  chemicals 

are injected to capture any residual emissions. The final stage is a bag filter, 
which will filter the ash / dust emissions from the combusted  waste gas. The 
residual air pollution residues (APC residues) will be collected in a hopper and 
are used on site to make aggregate. 

 
8.7 The cleaned gases will flow to the stack (there will be one stack per three 
 gasification units), via a Continuous Monitoring System  (CEMS). 
 
8.8 After the energy in the steam turbine is released for electricity production, the 
 cooled steam will be routed to the air-cooled condenser where it is cooled 
 further and turned back into water. 
 
9.0 The Lightweight Aggregate Plant (LWA) 
 
9.1 The ash and APC residues from the gasification plant will be processed on 
 site to produce a lightweight construction aggregate pellet, which is a 
 marketable product. This product will be exported by ship via a dedicated 
 berth at the wharf. 
 
9.2 Clay and or silt will be used in the process primarily as a binder to give 
 strength to the pellet. Clay is sourced from the south east of England and 
 transported to the site via ship. The silt will be dredged from The Haven, 
 subject to the relevant permissions. 
 
9.3 The LWA plant will have four lines. 
 
10.0 The CO2 Recovery Plant 
 
10.1 The CO2 from the recovery plant will be food-grade and may be used by 

various industries. 
 
11.0 Departmental Comments and Supplementary Questions 

 
11.1 There are several strands within the Borough Council that have professional 
 comments to be submitted as part of the process and these are set out in 
 Appendix 1, together with supplementary questions that have arisen through 
 the process. The list of these questions is not exhaustive and it is likely that 
 more will emerge over the remaining period of time left within the consultation 
 period. 
 
 
 
 

Page 71



 

 

12.0 CONCLUSION 
 
12.1 The previous consultation exercise generated positive feedback from the 
 agents acting on behalf of the applicant – many of the points that were raised 
 were acknowledged and incorporated, such as the Visitor Centre that was 
 suggested to mirror that which the Environment Agency provided for the 
 barrier project. 
 
12.2 This exercise enables the Council as a consultee to make further comment 
 and seek clarity on outstanding issues to continue to influence any final 
 proposal in a positive way for the benefit of the residents of Boston Borough 
 as a whole. 
 
 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
There are no direct financial implications arising from this report as the Council is a 
consultee at this stage of the process. 

 
 

LEGAL AND EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
As a statutory consultee, the Council provides comment and feedback to a planning 
process that will be determined by the Secretary of State in accordance with the 
provisions of the Planning Act 2008, as amended by the Localism Act 2011. 
 
Due to the size and nature of the project, there will be a detailed equality assessment 
prepared by the applicant. 
 

 
 

ANY OTHER IMPLICATIONS 
 
None. 
 

 
 
CONSULTATION 
 
Officers have attended various meetings held as Phase 3 of the consultation stage. 
The Portfolio Holder for Environmental Services has also been in attendance. 
 
The Cabinet has responsibility for the final submission and the matter would normally 
be considered by the Environment and Performance Scrutiny Committee before 
consideration by the Cabinet. Due to the timing of the consultation period, this has 
not been possible, and the matter will be considered by the Scrutiny Committee on 
the 30th July 2019. The comments made by the Committee will be considered by the 
Deputy Chief Executive, in consultation with the Leader and relevant Portfolio 
Holders as set out in the recommendations.  
 

Page 72



 

 

 
 

APPENDICES 
 
Appendices are listed below and attached to the back of the report: - 
 

APPENDIX 1 Draft Consultation Response 

 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
Information available on the Boston Alternative Energy Facility website. 
 

 

Page 73



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 1 – Draft Consultation Response 

 

Boston Alternative Energy Facility 
25 Priestgate  
Peterborough 
PE1 1JL 
 
 
Dear Sirs 
 
Re: Boston Borough Council Consultation in Respect of Phase 3 for Boston 
Alternative Energy Facility 
 
We are pleased to set out below our detailed response to the proposals in respect of 
the above. 
 
We are minded there are several strands within the Borough Council who will have a 
professional view and in addition, both the Cabinet and the Environmental and 
Performance Scrutiny Committee have reviewed the draft proposals and have made 
comments. 
 
The Borough Council is keen to work with the applicant to contribute at this early 
stage to ensure that in the event the Secretary of State determines to approve the 
application, all aspects have been robustly considered to ensure maximum economic 
benefit to the wider community whilst protecting the environment from traffic, noise 
and harm to the ecosystems surrounding the proposed site. 
 
We have set out below a summary of our departmental comments with a concluding 
paragraph of outstanding questions. Many of the issues we have raised, such as 
impact of traffic on the wider area, require greater clarification before any application 
is submitted to the Secretary of State. We welcome ongoing dialogue to enable such 
issues to have this clarity and suggest that noting the size and scale of the proposed 
development there is an extension of time to the deadline of the 6th August 2019 
consultation period. We believe this will ensure that we are better able to consider 
Joint Statements of Common Ground in readiness for any Inquiry. 
 
Waste Strategy 
 
The Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire was adopted by the Lincolnshire Waste 
Partnership (LWP) in January 2019. This followed a period of extensive public 
consultation during the summer of 2018 and adoption by each *individual partner 
member of the LWP through their democratic process. The Waste Strategy for 
Lincolnshire was adopted by Boston Borough Council on 28th November 2018.  
 
*{LWP is made up of the Lincolnshire County Council, as waste disposal authority and 
the 7 district/borough councils as waste collection authorities}.  
 

Page 75



On the basis that the BAEF could process residual household waste from Lincolnshire, 
this proposal could support delivery of 4 out of 10 strategic objectives in the Waste 
Strategy for Lincolnshire: 
 
Objective 4: To explore new opportunities of promoting waste minimisation and of 
using all waste as a resource in accordance with the waste hierarchy. 
 
Objective 7: To seek to reduce our carbon footprint. 
 
Objective 8: To make an objective assessment of what further waste 
processing/disposal capacity is required and, as necessary, secure appropriate 
capacity. 
 
Objective 10: To consider appropriate innovative solution to the delivery of our waste 
management services. 
 
The current disposal facility for residual municipal waste in Lincolnshire, an Energy 
from Waste (EFW) plant located in North Hykeham, Lincoln, is forecast to reach its 
operational capacity in the next 5 years. Lincolnshire County Council, who are 
responsible for the disposal/treatment of the county’s municipal waste, have yet to 
publish a coherent strategy for dealing with the treatment of the county’s residual 
waste once this capacity shortfall is met. Landfill is not an option within the geography 
of Lincolnshire and no longer presents a financially viable or environmentally 
acceptable method for disposal of municipal waste in the long term.  
 
Whilst the Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire is driving action across the LWP to mitigate 
the impact of increasing residual waste volumes, population and household growth in 
the county, these actions are unlikely to be sufficient in themselves or delivered quickly 
enough to mitigate the forecast capacity short fall at the EfW in the longer term.  
 
If the proposed BAEF could process residual household waste from the south east of 
the county (Boston, East Lindsey, South Holland and North Kesteven District 
Councils), it would offer a new disposal and treatment option for the county and would 
future proof the capacity of the EfW facility in Lincolnshire for many years to come. By 
diverting waste in the south of the county away from the EfW, development of 
additional waste processing infrastructure in the county can be substantially delayed 
or even eliminated. 
 
BAEF could also meet several other strategic objectives by providing an innovative 
solution to municipal waste processing and treatment, using waste as a resource by 
converting it to energy and valuable commodities such as carbon dioxide and 
aggregate and could substantially reduce the carbon footprint of our current 
countywide waste management arrangements by eliminating road haulage of waste 
from the south of the county to Lincoln.  There will also be a significant and positive 
impact on the county’s recycling rate as recyclable material will be removed from the 
residual waste stream by screening, prior to being processed in the gasification facility. 
The recyclable content of the residual waste stream is forecast to be in the region of 
20% hence its removal for recovery prior to processing will provide a significant boost 
to the countywide recycling objective as well as the national recycling targets 

Page 76



contained in the HM Government: Our Waste, Our Resources: Strategy for England 
published in 2018.   
  
Finally, the location of the Lincolnshire County Council owned and operated waste 
transfer station, on Nursery Road, Riverside Industrial Estate, Boston, Lincolnshire, 
PE21 7TN is ideally situated adjacent to the proposed development site of the BAEF 
to offer the opportunity for the bulking, baling and direct transfer of municipal waste, 
collected from households in Boston, East Lindsey and South Holland districts, into 
the proposed BAEF site for treatment. This will serve to divert waste away from the 
EfW facility in Lincoln and will substantially reduce residual waste haulage costs and 
the countywide waste management carbon footprint.  
 
Development Management 
 
The proposed Alternative Energy Facility by processing waste by a gasification 
process as described above would appear to be an acceptable and appropriate use 
for the site selected. Whether it is classed as B2 or Sui Generis use would be decision 
that is made later in the process. However, currently the proposal is considered 
acceptable in context with the Lincolnshire County Council Minerals and Waste Local 
Plan.  
 
In terms of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan a B2 use is appropriate given it is 
an allocated employment site. A Sui Generis use and the development in the 
Countryside would need to be justified on the basis “of other material consideration”. 
 
The benefits that could accrue from the gasification process would mean less waste 
is directed to land fill sites or elsewhere. It does not need to burn coal or gas to help 
create the energy to produce the electricity. The residue from the combustion process 
is recycled into products that have an economic value at the end of the process. 
 
The whole process from construction to end use would provide a facility that provided 
employment opportunities across the whole spectrum, including construction jobs and 
end user jobs, some of which may be specialised. 
 
There appears to be a case for the need of such a facility and based on the planning 
history locally around this site this may be a suitable location given the delivery of 
material to the site would be by water and not by vehicles. 
 
The energy produced would not only be a benefit across Boston but the whole East 
Midlands Region and nationally, given the electricity produce will be added to the 
national grid. 
 
However, given the stage we are currently at, it is not possible to assess the project 
against the policies of the adopted Local Plan. There are no plans of the proposed 
structures to view and assess only simple written descriptions. 
 
Planning Policy 
 
Policy 7: “Improving South East Lincolnshire’s Employment Land Portfolio” of the 
South East Lincolnshire Local Plan allocates the Riverside industrial estate, shown 

Page 77



below in purple or crosshatched, as B1, B2 and B8. The Boston Alternative Energy 
Facility site is shown with a black line and extends over land shown allocated for 
employment land and countryside.  
 
The policy also allows new employment development outside the allocated 
employment site provided: 
 
a. the development does not conflict with neighbouring land uses; 

 
b. there is no significant adverse impact upon the character and appearance of the 

area;  
 

c. the design is responsive to the local context; 
 

d. there will be no significant adverse impact on the local highway network; 
 

e. there will be no significant adverse impact upon the viability of delivering any 
allocated employment site; 

 
f. proposals maximising opportunities for modal shift away from the private car are 

demonstrated; and 
 

g. there is an identified need for the business location outside of identified employment 
areas on the Policies Map. 

 

  

Page 78



The Lincolnshire Minerals and Waste Local Plan - Core Strategy and Development 
Management Policies contains Policy W3: “Spatial Strategy for New Waste Facilities”. 
It supports proposals for new waste facilities in Boston, as well as other settlements in 
Lincolnshire.  Policy W4: “Locational Criteria for New Waste Facilities in and around 
main urban areas” supports new waste facilities as set out in W3 provided that they 
would be located on: 
 

 Previously developed and/or contaminated land; or 

 Existing or planned industrial / employment land and buildings; or 

 Land already in waste management use; or 

 Sites allocated in the Site Locations Document; or 

 In the case of biological treatment the land identified in W5. (This relates to 
proposals on sites that do not accord with W3) 
 

The Lincolnshire County Council Minerals and Waste Local Plan Site Locations 
document allocates the Riverside Industrial Estate for:  
 
Resource Recovery Park, Treatment Facility, Waste Transfer, Materials Recycling 
Facility, Household Waste Recycling Centre, Metal Recycling / End of Life Vehicles, 
Re-Use Facility, C&D Recycling and Energy Recovery.  
  
The allocation extends over a larger area than the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan, 
as it is based on the superseded Boston Borough Local Plan 1999. The proposed 
plant is located on land within the Minerals and Waste Local Plan Riverside Industrial 
Estate allocation.  
 

 
 
The proposal seeks to transport materials to and from the site by boat. The gasification 
process produces gas which will be used to generate electricity. The impact of boats 
and emissions from the process on the Wash will have to be assessed to ensure the 
Wash, which has International, European and National conservation designations, is 
not harmed and the characteristics for which it is designated are not undermined. 

  

Page 79



In summary: 
 

 The uses listed in the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan are B1, B2 and B8. 
The uses listed in the Lincolnshire County Council Minerals and Waste Local 
Plan Site Locations document are B2, B8 and Sui Generis. 
 

 The proposal is for an Alternative Energy Facility by processing waste by a 
gasification process. Energy Recovery in the form of “Gas from biological 
degradation of waste production, purification or refining place” is B2. A “Power 
Station” is Sui Generis.  

 

 In the context of the Lincolnshire County Council Minerals and Waste Local 
Plan Site Locations document the proposed Alternative Energy Facility 
complies with one of the bullet points in W4, in that the land is allocated in the 
Site Locations document.  
 

 In terms of the South East Lincolnshire Local plan a B2 use is appropriate on 
the allocated employment site. However, a Sui Generis use would need to be 
considered against “any other material Considerations”. Development on the 
Countryside, would need to be justified on the basis of the 7 criteria, a – g of 
Policy 7. 

 

 The proposal must not undermine the Wash nature conservation designation. 
 

2.4 Economic Development 
 
The Council’s economic development function is to develop and drive growth and 
enterprise across the borough to transform the local economy into a sustainable 
destination of choice for investing, working, living and visiting. 
 
In this context, the Boston Alternative Energy Facility (BAEF) will have a major 
strategic impact on the local economy, job creation, business and supply chain growth 
that influence the socio-economic factors on our local communities. 
 
The impact of this development presents a significant economic opportunity for Boston 
and the wider economy and is much more than just building a power station. The 
construction and operation of BAEF will provide significant boost and add value to 
local businesses through the procurement process.  
 
The size and scale of BAEF will also during the build provide a significant increase in 
local retail and hospitality spend as well as developing strong relationships with local 
schools, Boston College and University of Lincoln to deliver wide-ranging employment 
& skills, apprenticeship and traineeship opportunities in the energy sector and 
especially in Science, Technology, Engineering and Maths (STEM).  
 
Aligned to the Local Industrial Strategy, the BAEF is a catalyst for wider economic 
growth supporting opportunities for businesses of all sizes to supply goods and 
services throughout the construction and operational phases. The development would 
create a sustainable opportunity to diversify parts of the business base away from ‘low 
skill – low wage’ economy to one that could improve productivity through the 

Page 80



contribution of inward investment activity for high grade carbon dioxide (CO2), 
aggregates for the construction sector and heat extraction. 
 
Environmental Health  
 
Boston is subject to air quality issues and there are two Air Quality Management 
Areas (AQMA) in place. Concerns have previously been raised about the proposal 
and how the impact of the proposed site use must not adversely affect the existing 
areas, with a request for regular monitoring. 
 
The lack of information relating to the traffic management plan both for the 
construction period and clarity of site operations means that a detailed assessment 
cannot yet be assessed.  
 
We have requested that all the options for traffic routes for construction traffic and 
operational service traffic are examined as part of the process. In addition we note 
the potential on the AQMA of pollution via shipping vehicles. 
 
There is likely to be an impact on neighbouring communities on both sides of the 
River Haven in respect of potential noise pollution, light pollution, off loading/on 
loading of ships at night but until the detailed proposals are received, no detailed 
comment with regard to mitigation may be made. 
 
Supplementary Questions and Observations Requiring a Response 
 
There are many additional questions that are unclear from the information in the 
public domain and the Council as a statutory consultee would appreciate the 
response to these questions in order to be able to consider what level of support we 
may provide at a Public Inquiry. 
 

(i) The construction process is proposed to take up to four years, generate 
up to 300 construction jobs and give rise to construction work six days a 
week. However, there is no information as to how this traffic management 
will impact on local residents and business, in addition to the wider road 
network impact. 

 
 We believe there should be detailed consideration of an access road for 

the purpose of construction traffic to mitigate the impact of such heavy 
construction traffic on the community. 

 
 We believe that this provides an opportunity to work with our colleagues 

at the County Council is terms of how this might be upgraded to provide a 
permanent road to reduce ongoing impact of the use of the site once fully 
operational. 
 

(ii) We are mindful that Boston has two AQMAs in operation and we are 
concerned not to have received the detail in relation to traffic movements 
for both construction and operation service that would enable the Council 
to fully assess the potential impact and including shipping traffic how this 

Page 81



may be mitigated. We require detailed traffic assessment information 
before the project progresses further to the next stage. 
 

(iii) We note the high level of advanced technology proposed within the site, 
which will likely give rise to noise and pollution impactson local residents 
and businesses. However, without detailed proposals, we are unable to 
fully assess such impact and suggest areas of mitigation. We require further 
detail to enable such consideration. 
 

(iv) We are unable to fully assess the project against the policies of the adopted 
Local Plan as there are no plans of the proposed structures to view and 
assess only simple written descriptions. At this stage in the consultation 
process, we are disappointed we cannot provide more clarity and would like 
to delay the next stage of the process until such time as detailed plans are 
available for more detailed assessment. 
 

(v) We note one of the by-products will be aggregate. To lower the carbon 
footprint, by reducing haulage of this product, and provide additional 
employment opportunities and to further support the local economy, we 
suggest provision, at the design stage, to enable local distribution of 
aggregate products direct to local markets via road. 
 

(vi) We believe provision of facilities/proposals at the design stage, for the 
efficient and direct transference of baled waste from the Boston Waste 
Transfer Station, direct to the RDF receiving facility is worthy of 
consideration. 

 
(vii) We note the anticipated by-products and believe that the direct export of 

Heat / CO2 / Electricity to encourage local business and residential 
development is an opportunity. In addition, by encouraging further 
employment opportunities, this will offset the deficit in the labour allocation 
designated for the area as falling within BAEF development footprint – by 
way of example the labour allocation for this area is approximately 800 
jobs, but the proposed site will generate only approximately 100 jobs 
(after the initial construction). 
 

(viii) We would like to see the materials that are removed from the feedstock 
during the process as unsuitable for gasification, and recycled; are 
recorded and contribute to the county and national recycling targets. 

 
(ix) How will the material (approximately 20%) from bales that is not suitable 

from gasification, be separated and what impact will this have on noise 
and pollution. 
 

(x) We note that ferrous and non-ferrous metals will be removed, collected in 
separate skips and sent for processing off-site – what traffic movements 
are these expected to generate and what end use might these be 

 
(xi) We note that the existing flood defences are to be replaced - does the 

new Quay improve existing flood defences and if so, how. 

Page 82



 
(xii) What dialogue has there been with the Port as we are interested in the 

feasibility of boats turning at the knuckle noting the increased traffic 
proposed to transport the bales to the site and also at this stage, to take 
away aggregate. 

 
(xiii) We note the reference to the aggregate leaving by ship and a dedicated 

berth – how often will this ship leave and arrive in addition to bale 
shipping movements. 

 
(xiv) We have not seen sufficient detailed plans within the proposals to be able 

to fully assess whether there would be an impact on the ecology of the 
Haven and ecosystem around the application site, however we note you 
will be completing an Environmental Impact Assessment. 

 
(xv) We are mindful that renewable energy projects often provide a community 

fund to provide legacy projects within the community that mitigates the 
impact of the application site. We believe it would be helpful to the 
community to see this articulated in the documentation produced by the 
applicant to support the application. 

 
Conclusion 
 
There are many positive benefits the scheme as proposed will bring to the 
Borough of Boston and the Council wishes to work closely with the applicant to 
ensure all issues are fully considered before the final plans are submitted to the 
Secretary of State to ensure the design of the site can fully capitalise on these 
options to further enhance job creation and supply chain opportunities. 
However, the wider economic benefits must be balanced with the impact on the 
community, both residents and business together with the impact on wildlife and 
the River Haven ecology. Until such time as the detail surrounding plans and 
traffic, by way of two examples, are supplied, we cannot comment in any detail. 
We would respectfully request that the 6th August 2019 deadline is extended to 
enable all statutory partners to fully engage and have regard to potential 
Statements of Common Ground in readiness for the Planning Inquiry. We feel it 
will cause delay later in the process if the plans are submitted without the 
applicant having had the opportunity to fully consider detailed observations 
which will most likely result in amendments to design and enhance the final 
proposal. 
 
We look forward to hearing from you further with the points we have raised. 
 
Yours sincerely 
 
Michelle Sacks 
Deputy Chief Executive 
 

 
 

 

Page 83



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	A. MINUTES
	1 CLIMATE CHANGE
	Appendix 1 - Council Motions - 15 July 2019

	2 WORK PROGRAMME
	3 CCTV POLICY REVIEW AND ANNUAL PERFORMANCE UPDATE
	Appendix A - CCTV Report 2018-2019
	Appendix B - BBC CCTV Policy Update – Version 1.5

	4 CRIME & DISORDER ANNUAL REVIEW/ASB/PSPO (ALCOHOL) STATISTICS 2018/19
	5 BOSTON ALTERNATIVE ENERGY FACILITY CONSULTATION SUBMISSION
	Appendix 1 - Draft Consultation Response


